
 
Rother District Council 
 

 

This agenda can be made available in large print, Braille, 
audiotape/CD or in another language upon request. 

For all enquiries – please contact louise.hollingsworth@rother.gov.uk 
(Tel: 01424 787815) 

Rother District Council putting residents at the heart of everything we do. 

Audit and Standards Committee 
 
Date and Time - Monday 4 December 2023 – 6:30pm 
 
Venue - Council Chamber, Town Hall, Bexhill-on-Sea 
 
 
Councillors appointed to the Committee: 
B.J. Drayson (Chair), J. Barnes (MBE) (Vice-Chair), A.E. Biggs, Mrs V. Cook (ex-
officio), P.J. Gray, A.P. Hayward, S.B. McGurk, C. Pearce and R.B. Thomas. 
 
Audit Independent Person: Mr Patrick Farmer 
 
 

AGENDA 
  
1.   MINUTES   
 To authorise the Chair to sign the Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and 

Standards Committee held on 2 October 2023 as a correct record of the 
proceedings. 

  
2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
 
3.   ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS   
 To consider such other items as the Chair decides are urgent and due notice 

of which has been given to the Head of Paid Service by 12 Noon on the day 
of the meeting. 

  
4.   DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS   
 To receive any disclosure by Members of personal and disclosable pecuniary 

interests in matters on the agenda, the nature of any interest and whether the 
Member regards the personal interest as prejudicial under the terms of the 
Code of Conduct.  Members are reminded of the need to repeat their 
declaration immediately prior to the commencement of the item in question. 

  
PART A - STANDARDS REPORTS 
 
5.   ROTHER DISTRICT COUNCIL OWNED ACCOMMODATION 

COMPLAINTS AND TENANT SATISFACTION REPORT  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
6.   CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS MONITORING AND OTHER 

STANDARDS MATTERS  (Pages 9 - 46) 
 
7.   DISPENSATION POLICY  (Pages 47 - 52) 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:louise.hollingsworth@rother.gov.uk


 
 

(Enquiries – please ask for Louise Hollingsworth Tel: 01424 787815) 

8.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (EXEMPT INFORMATION)   
 The following item includes material which is exempt from publication by 

virtue of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, and it is recommended that the press and public be excluded. The 
relevant paragraph of Schedule 12A indicating the nature of the exempt 
information is stated after the item and is reproduced in full at the end of the 
agenda.  In the circumstances of the case, it is considered that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

  
9.   DISCONTINUANCE OF COMPLAINTS (PARAGRAPH 1) - TO FOLLOW   
 
10.   CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS MONITORING AND OTHER 

STANDARDS MATTERS - APPENDIX 3 (PARAGRAPH 3)  (Pages 53 - 56) 
 
PART B - AUDIT REPORTS 
 
11.   REPORT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITORS, GRANT THORNTON - 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23  (Pages 57 - 106) 
 
12.   REPORT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITORS, GRANT THORNTON - AUDIT 

FINDINGS FOR ROTHER DISTRICT COUNCIL 2021/22  (Pages 107 - 146) 
 
13.   STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021/22  (Pages 147 - 148) 
 
14.   INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2023  (Pages 149 - 174) 
 
15.   WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 175 - 178) 
 
 
Lorna Ford 
Chief Executive Agenda Despatch Date: 24 November 2023 
 
 
Extract from Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 
 
1. Information relating to any individual. 
 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information). 
 
 
Invitees in respect of Standards Related Reports only:  
 
Independent Persons: Mr Robert Brown and Mrs Rose Durban. 
 
Parish/Town Councillor Representative(s): Councillors Mrs W.M. Miers and  
K. Robertson  



AS231204 – Complaints & Satisfaction 

Rother District Council                                                 
 
Report to:  Audit and Standards Committee    
 
Date:  4 December 2023                         
 
Title:  Rother District Council Owned Accommodation 

Complaints and Tenant Satisfaction Report  
 
Report of:  Joe Powell, Head of Housing & Regeneration 
 
Purpose of Report:  To present the annual findings of the Rother District 

Council owned accommodation complaints and tenant 
satisfaction measures.    

 
Officer 
Recommendation(s): It be RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 
Introduction 
 
1. This report provides the annual review of complaints and tenant satisfaction 

measures in Rother District Council (RDC) owned accommodation.   
 

2. The Council became a Registered Provider (RP) for housing in 2020, and as 
part of our duties as an RP, we must follow the complaint handling code set by 
the Housing Ombudsman. This is the first year that we have had an established 
policy and procedure. 

 
3. In October 2023, the Social Housing (Regulation) Act was introduced, which 

put greater emphasis on Tenant Satisfaction Measures. We introduced the 
tenant satisfaction surveys in June 2023, but have been completing exit surveys 
with all tenants since 2022.  

 
Details  
 
4. Over the past year, we have received no complaints regarding RDC owned 

accommodation. Where we have had service requests for maintenance to be 
completed, these are completed in a timely manner. Staff are readily available 
for tenants when issues arise. Tenants are aware of how to make a complaint 
as we provide a complaints leaflet at sign-up, as well as mentioning complaints 
and compliments in the newsletter also.  
 

5. As part of the Tenant Satisfaction Measures, all tenants are given the 
opportunity to feedback into the service by completing the survey issued during 
the summer period. This survey includes questions set by the Regulator of 
Social Housing, covering five themes: keeping properties in good repair; 
maintaining building safety; respectful and helpful engagement; effective 
handling of complaints; and responsible neighbourhood management.  The 
questionnaire can be found at Appendix A.  

 
6. We received 16 completed surveys back from 25 surveys that were circulated, 

which is only a 64% response rate. Next year we would hope to have a much 
higher response rate, ideally 90-100%, as we have more staff involved in the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



AS231204 – Complaints & Satisfaction 

delivery of the support to our tenants. We will also seek to have the survey 
translated into other languages as some of our tenants have English as a 
second language.  

 
7. Of the tenants that responded, 100% were satisfied their property was well-

maintained, 100% felt they were treated fairly and with respect and 100% felt 
they were listened to and updated. Overall, no-one was dissatisfied with the 
service they were provided by the Council as their landlord. 

 
8. Exit surveys are completed when someone moves on from our accommodation. 

Of the surveys completed, this year we have seen the following comments 
regarding the housing management staff: ‘very supportive’, ‘always happy and 
cheerful’ ‘non-judgmental’. One former tenant wrote: ‘I feel very privileged to be 
given such a safe place to stay for me and my 3 children.’  
 

Conclusion 
 
9. On review of the evidence provided, the outcome is good. We have received 

no complaints relating to RDC owned accommodation and tenant satisfaction 
is also good.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
10. If we were not complying with the complaint handling code, then we could face 

fines by the Housing Ombudsman and have to release compensation to our 
complainants. 

 
Other Implications Applies? Other Implications Applies? 

Human Rights No Equalities and Diversity No 
Crime and Disorder No External Consultation No 
Environmental No Access to Information No 
Risk Management No Exempt from publication No 

 
Chief Executive: Lorna Ford 
Report Contact 
Officer: 

Kathryn Harlow 

e-mail address: kathryn.harlow@rother.gov.uk 
Appendices: A Tenant Satisfaction Measures Survey  

 
Relevant Previous 
Minutes: 
 

None 

Background Papers: None 
Reference 
Documents: 

None 

 
 

Page 4

mailto:kathryn.harlow@rother.gov.uk


 

 
Rother District Council  

Tenant Exit Survey  

We are committed to providing you with the best experience possible, so we welcome your 

comments. Please fill out this questionnaire. Thankyou in advance 

 

 

Keeping properties in good repair 

1). Has your landlord carried out a repair to your home in the last 12 months?  

Yes  ☐   No ☐ 

 

If yes, how satisfied, or dissatisfied are you with the overall repairs service from your landlord over 

the last 12 months? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 If yes, how satisfied, or dissatisfied are you with the time taken to complete your most recent repair 

after you reported it? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2). How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that your landlord provides a home that is well-maintained? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

Page 5



 

 
 

Maintaining building safety 

3). Thinking about the condition of the property or building you live in, how satisfied or dissatisfied 

are you that your landlord provides a home that is safe? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Respectful and helpful engagement 

4). How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that your landlord listens to your views and acts upon them? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

5). How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that your landlord keeps you informed about things that 

matter to you? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

6). To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following: ‘My landlord treats me fairly and 

with respect’. 

Strongly Agree ☐      Somewhat Agree ☐  Neither☐   Somewhat Disagree ☐     Strongly  disagree ☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



 

 
Effective handling of complaints 

7). Have you made a complaint to your landlord in the last 12 months?  

Yes  ☐   No ☐ 

If yes, how satisfied, or dissatisfied are you with your landlord’s approach to complaints handling? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Reasonable neighbourhood management 

8). Do you live in a building with communal areas, either inside or outside, that your landlord is 

responsible for maintaining? 

Yes  ☐   No ☐ 

If yes, how satisfied, or dissatisfied are you that your landlord keeps these communal areas clean 

and well-maintained? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐   

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

9). How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with your landlord’s approach to handling anti-social 

behaviour? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐  Not applicable ☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



 

 
10). How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that your landlord makes a positive contribution to your 

neighbourhood? 

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐   

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

11). Thinking about your housing support (not your homeless journey) how satisfied or dissatisfied 

are you with the service you received?  

Satisfied  ☐      Neutral ☐  Dissatisfied☐ 

Please Provide Comments: 

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________  

Page 8



AS231204 – CoC Complaints Monitoring  

Rother District Council  
 
Report to:  Audit and Standards Committee      
 
Date: 4 December 2023 
 
Title: Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and Other 

Standards Matters 
 
Report of: Linda Walker, Interim Monitoring Officer 
 
Purpose of Report: To receive an update on the number of complaints 

received and processed and other standards related 
matters since the last report in June 2023.   

Officer 
Recommendation(s): It be RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
Introduction  
 
1. This regular six-monthly report sets out details of the complaints received and 

processed since the Committee’s last meeting held in June 2023 where 
complaints were considered; as agreed by the Committee, this report 
presents cases on a six-monthly rolling basis.  It also advises the Committee 
of other standards related matters arising since the Committee’s last meeting. 
 

2. Since that time the Council has appointed a new Interim Monitoring Officer, 
Linda Walker.   

 
Complaints Received 
 
3. Since the last meeting, 11 Code of Conduct (CoC) complaints concerning six 

District Councillors and eight Parish Councillors have been considered and 
concluded; of the 11 cases, seven were dismissed (C23-01, C23-02, C23-03, 
C23-06, C23-10, C23-12 and C13-14) and three other local resolutions 
involving training, mediation and an offer of a facilitated meeting which was 
declined by the complainant (C23-04, C23-05, C23-08 and C23-09).  The 
view of one (or both) of the Council’s Independent Persons (IPs) was sought 
and concurred with the proposed action in each case; brief details of each 
case are provided at Appendix 1.  
 

4. With regard to the two outstanding complaints from 2022/23 (C22-10/C22-
10B) it is confirmed that complaint C22-10 has been dismissed and C22-10B 
has been discontinued and are subject to a confidential report circulated 
separately to Members. 
  

5. During this time, two non-valid complaints against one Rother District 
Councillor and one Parish Councillor have also been received; one complaint 
against a District Councillor was a noise complaint and the other one was for 
actions undertaken in their private life and not whilst conducting the business 
of the authority.     
 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



AS231204 – CoC Complaints Monitoring  

Northiam Parish Council Update 
 

6. As Members may recall, following a number of complaints originating from 
Northiam Parish Council (NPC), Rother District Council (RDC) commissioned 
external consultants to work with NPC and work through the issues that had 
given rise to the complaints.   

 
7. A copy of the consultant’s full report into the issues prevailing within Northiam 

Parish Council during the last term of office is attached at Appendix 2.  As can 
be seen, a total of 41 recommendations were made, with recommendation 40 
requiring NPC to report to RDC on progress after six months and again in 12 
months.   
 

8. NPC have provided a copy of their Action Plan (as at November 2023) as a 
result of this consultancy and this has been circulated as confidential 
Appendix 3 to this report, as it is not in the public domain.  

 
9. It is further noted that recommendation 41 states that if the new Council is still 

not operating effectively and relationships have not improved after the 12-
month review, RDC should consider a full review of the viability of the Council 
continuing. 
 

10. It should be noted that since the May elections, five complaints against 
Northiam Parish Councillors have been submitted by three members of the 
public, two of whom were previous Parish Councillors.   
 

Other Standards Matters 
 

11. Following the appointment of the new Interim Monitoring Officer, a review will 
be undertaken of the Council’s arrangements / protocols and procedures for 
dealing with Member complaints in due course.  Suggested improvements will 
be brought to a future meeting to consider and recommend to Council.   
 

12. The following points were made by a former Councillor through their exit 
questionnaire which will be fed into the review: 

 
➢ Changes must be made to the Complaints Procedure to ensure 

Members receive the actual complaint when it is made, that the 
complaint is dated (currently the form is not) and that it must have all 
evidence for a complaint when the complaint is made for the complaint 
to be considered at all. 

 
13. It is noted that most complaints are now received by email, via the on-line 

complaints form and the standard (hard copy) complaints form is not 
completed; however, a date field has now been added to the standard 
complaint form, should this be completed by complainants and returned either 
in hard copy or email format. 
 

Training 
 

14. Following the elections in May, a hybrid training session on the Code of 
Conduct for all Rother District Councillors was held on 3 July 2023 at which 
23 Members attended.  Training sessions have also been held on the differing 
roles of Members and officers and Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion, issues 
that have given rise to Member complaints.       

Page 10



AS231204 – CoC Complaints Monitoring  

Risk Management  
 
15. The Audit and Standards Committee has a duty to promote and maintain high 

standards of conduct by Members and co-opted Members of the Council.  
Monitoring the number of complaints received and the nature of the 
complaints will enable the Committee to identify any trends and make 
recommendations for additional training and guidance as appropriate.   
Failure to do so could result in poor Member conduct, an increase in 
complaints administration and reputational damage for the Council. 

 
Conclusion 

 
16. The Committee is asked to consider the report and agree any additional 

recommendations as appropriate.     
 

Other Implications Applies? Other Implications Applies? 
Human Rights No Equalities and Diversity No 
Crime and Disorder No Consultation No 
Environmental No Access to Information No 
Risk Management  Yes Exempt from publication No 
 
Chief Executive: Lorna Ford 
Report Contact 
Officer: 

Linda Walker, Interim Monitoring Officer 

e-mail address: MonitoringOfficer@rother.gov.uk 
Appendices: Appendix 1 – Member Complaints Summary 

Appendix 2 – Northiam PC Consultancy Report 
CONFIDENTIAL Appendix 3 – Northiam PC Action Plan  
   

Relevant Previous 
Minutes: 

None.  

Background Papers: None. 
 

Reference 
Documents: 

None. 

Page 11

mailto:MonitoringOfficer@rother.gov.uk


AS231204 – CoC Complaints Monitoring  

                                                                                                                          Appendix 1 
MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS SUMMARY SHEET 

 
 

REF 
 

DATE 
RECEIVED COMPLAINANT SUBJECT 

MEMBER 
NATURE OF COMPLAINT, DECISION  

AND COMMENT 
C23-01 25/05/23 Member of the 

public 
Town Councillor Complaint:  Alleged lack of respect on social media with local 

resident.      
 
Decision: Dismissed.   
 
Outcome / Comment: History of poor relationship between the two 
parties; conduct considered to be in private life with no connection 
to Council business.  Complainant had already made Sussex Police 
aware.   
 

C23-02 
(2) 

08/06/23 Members of the 
public (x2) 

Parish Councillor 
(Chairman) 

Complaint: Alleged lack of respect in written correspondence 
between parties concerning budget setting, level of pre-cept, Clerk’s 
remuneration and terms and conditions of employment amongst 
other matters.  
 
Decision: Dismissed. 
 
Outcome / Comment: Conduct not considered sufficient for further 
action, matters of concern mostly matters for the parish council, 
rather than the individual Parish Councillor who is the Chairman of 
the Parish Council. 
 

C23-03 16/06/23 Member of the 
public 

Town Councillor Complaint:  Alleged falsehoods on social media concerning local 
resident and status of former company.      
 
Decision: Dismissed.   
 
Outcome / Comment: Conduct considered to be in private life with 
no connection to Council business.   

C23-04 26/06/23 District 
Councillor 

District Councillor Complaint:  Alleged lack of respect and inappropriate comments 
made at a committee meeting indicating a lack of respect and 

P
age 12



AS231204 – CoC Complaints Monitoring  

 
REF 

 
DATE 

RECEIVED COMPLAINANT SUBJECT 
MEMBER 

NATURE OF COMPLAINT, DECISION  
AND COMMENT 

potential discriminatory remarks.  
 
Decision: Proposed local resolution to attend Equalities, Diversity 
and Inclusion (EDI) training in October.   
 
Outcome / Comment: Subject Member had attended Code of 
Conduct training after the incident and attended EDI training on own 
volition, not as part of the proposed local resolution; SM felt 
aggrieved at the complaint and felt comments had been taken out of 
context.   
 

C23-05 26/06/23 District 
Councillor 

District Councillor Complaint:  Alleged lack of respect shown to officers and Chair at a 
committee meeting and potential discriminatory remarks.  
 
Decision: Proposed local resolution to attend Equalities, Diversity 
and Inclusion (EDI) training in October.   
 
Outcome / Comment: Subject Member had attended Code of 
Conduct training after the incident and attended EDI training on own 
volition, not as part of the proposed local resolution.  
 

C23-06 17/06/23 
27/06/23 
(confirmed) 

Member of the 
public 

District Councillor Complaint:  Allegation of disrespect during a neighbourhood 
dispute confrontation.       
 
Decision: Dismissed.   
 
Outcome / Comment: Conduct considered to be in private life with 
no connection to Council business.  
 
 
  

C23-08 01/08/23 Member of the 
public 

District Councillor Complaint:  Allegation of disrespect during a radio interview 
towards the disabled community.  
 

P
age 13



AS231204 – CoC Complaints Monitoring  

 
REF 

 
DATE 

RECEIVED COMPLAINANT SUBJECT 
MEMBER 

NATURE OF COMPLAINT, DECISION  
AND COMMENT 

Decision: Proposed local resolution in the form of a formal written 
apology, offer of face-to-face meeting and Member attendance at 
training.    
 
Outcome / Comment: Local resolution not accepted by the 
complainant.  No further action.  District Councillor attended the EDI 
training in October.    
 

C23-09 03/08/23 Town Councillor Town Councillor 
(x2) 

Complaint:  Stating falsehoods about the complainant at Council 
meetings concerning private social media postings and bringing the 
Council into disrepute and misuse of position. 
 
Decision: Local resolution in the form of mediation.  
 
Outcome / Comment: Mediation has taken place and all parties to 
the complaint have agreed to be courteous and respectful to each 
other going forward.  
 

C23-10 08/08/23 Member of the 
public 

Parish Councillor Complaint:  Allegation of disrespect within an email exchange sent 
to the complainant in error.  
 
Decision: Dismissed.   
 
Outcome / Comment: Subject Member had already apologised to 
the complainant for the mis-judged comment and emoji within an 
email sent to the complainant by the Subject Member in error.   
 

C23-12 22/09/23 Member of the 
public 

Parish 
Councillors (x2) 

Complaint:  Failure to declare interests at Parish Council meetings.  
 
Decision: Dismissed.   
 
Outcome / Comment: Subject Members had no interests to 
declare.   
 

P
age 14



AS231204 – CoC Complaints Monitoring  

 
REF 

 
DATE 

RECEIVED COMPLAINANT SUBJECT 
MEMBER 

NATURE OF COMPLAINT, DECISION  
AND COMMENT 

C23-14 23/10/23 Parish 
Councillor 

District Councillor Complaint:  Suggestion of group “whipping” made by a Member of 
the Planning Committee after a recent meeting.   
 
Decision: Dismissed.   
 
Outcome / Comment: Group Leader assurance that whipping did 
not take place on the Planning Committee and all planning 
applications considered on merits.    

 

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE OF NORTHIAM PARISH COUNCIL:  
December 2022 – May 2023 

 
 

NATALIE AINSCOUGH 
PAUL HOEY 

SARITA PRESLAND 
HOEY AINSCOUGH ASSOCIATES LTD 

 
 

22 May 2023 
  

Page 17



Background summary 
 
1.1 Northiam Parish Council is a council in the area of Rother District Council. The 

Council has 9 councillors, although during the period of our review there were 
fewer given ongoing vacancies and resignations. Contested elections were held 
in May 2023. Our period of review related to the ‘old’ Council and reflect our 
experience of working with them but our recommendations (insofar as they have 
not yet been implemented) are for the consideration of the ‘new’ Council. The 
Parish is not warded. The population of the village is around 2,000 people. 
  

1.2 In common with many town and parish councils, Northiam Parish Council 
councillors do not sit in political groupings, although as the review will make clear 
there have in recent years been two clear ‘factions’ operating around a specific 
issue and some candidates in the May election did stand under a collective 
‘grouping’. The new Council’s term of office began in May 2023 and will end in 
2027. Most of the nine members elected this May were ‘newly-elected’ in 2023, 
albeit some had served on the Council previously – only two members were on 
the Council at the time of our review although some of the people now ‘new’ on 
the Council took part in the review as former councillors. 
  

1.3 The Parish Council has a Clerk as its only member of staff. The current Clerk is 
an interim who works part-time for Northiam and is contracted for 10 hours per 
week. The Council are, we believe, in the process of recruiting a permanent clerk 
and should have regard to our recommendations when doing so.   
 

1.4 Relationships within the Parish Council have become strained over recent times, 
with difficult working relationships in particular between certain councillors and 
between previous clerks and certain councillors. These issues have arisen 
because of ongoing disagreements about the Community Interest Company 
(CIC) set up by the Parish Council to manage the piece of land known as St 
Francis Fields, though the disagreements have been exacerbated by personality 
clashes. This has led to a number of Code of Conduct complaints and a number 
of councillors and clerks resigning, including some councillors resigning during 
the course of our review. The interim Clerk was appointed at the start of our 
review in December. 

 
1.5 As stated, these relationship difficulties have their origins in differences over the 

way the CIC is run and whether proper procedures are followed, but also the 
strategic direction the Council should take on behalf of the village, in particular 
around the issue of the future of St Francis Fields. Internally, this has led broadly 
to a number of members of the Council being dissatisfied with the governance of 
the Council and CIC and raising those concerns with the Clerk and Chair as well 
as with the District Council. It should be noted that our review was not 
commissioned to review the work of the CIC nor the way it has been set up, 
although inevitably we did need to understand the issues to help us understand 
the underlying difficulties and we do have a specific section below looking at that 
relationship and suggestions for the best way forward.  

 
1.6 According to the majority of people we spoke to these differences are sometimes 

made very forcefully in meetings but most of the conflict has been through 

Page 18



correspondence. This has led to meetings being difficult to manage, becoming 
protracted, for example over disputes about minutes of the meeting and 
descending into strong disagreements as passions run high. This has made 
working relationships unmanageable and made many councillors feel disaffected 
at the pressure they are under and wondering whether they wish to continue in 
their voluntary role. 

 
1.7 This has at times resulted in complaints being made to the Monitoring Officer at 

Rother about alleged member misconduct in particular and has also meant that 
the Parish Council has become frustrated in the way business is conducted. 
Rother approached us initially in February 2022 to discuss whether we could 
assist them in supporting the Parish Council and seeking to help them move 
forward more constructively and effectively although we were not formally 
commissioned to carry out this review until December. 

 
1.8 This review has not been about investigating any particular complaints or 

grievances, including any specific past incidents. Our focus has always been on 
working with the Parish Council to address the way they could operate more 
effectively in the future, not to adjudicate on things that may have happened in 
the past, nor to examine the governance of the CIC. 

 
1.9 The review team consisted of three people – Paul Hoey and Natalie Ainscough, 

who are co-directors of Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd, and Sarita Presland, 
working on behalf of Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd for this review.  

 
1.10 Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd was set up in April 2012 to support local 

authorities in managing their arrangements for handling councillor conduct issues 
and wider governance issues. The company was co-founded by Paul Hoey, who 
had been director of strategy at Standards for England from 2001 until its closure 
in 2012, and Natalie Ainscough who had worked as his deputy.  

 
1.11 Sarita Presland is an experienced local government officer and was until 

recently the chief officer at the Derbyshire Association of Local Councils.  
 

1.12 In carrying out this review, we had the full cooperation of everybody that we 
spoke to at the Parish Council and District Council and we would like to thank 
them for the open and constructive way in which they approached the review and 
were willing to answer our questions and provide us with all relevant information 
we requested.  

 
Methodology 
 
2.1 Our proposal set out five aims: 

a) to review the Parish Council’s processes and procedures to ensure that the 

right tools are in place to allow the Parish Council to operate effectively; 

b) to understand what their underlying issues are and help the Parish Council 

consider how they can work more effectively; 

c) to help the Parish Council’s reputation through demonstrating that there is a 

culture of high standards and good governance; 

Page 19



d) to ensure there is a good understanding of the different roles of members and 

officers of the Parish Council and that both can do their job effectively; and 

e) to develop an action plan to help the Parish Council resolve its difficulties and 

allow the District Council to monitor progress over time. 

 
2.2 In order to carry out a review we divided our work into four phases. These four 

phases were: 
a) to carry out a confidential online survey of councillors, officers and other 

relevant individuals to get a greater in-depth picture of the Parish Council and 
some personal perspectives on the key issues; 

b) to spend a day in the Parish Council having individual interviews with 
councillors and others to develop understanding of the key issues emerging 
and to spend time talking to the clerk and reviewing the policies and 
procedures and ways of working of the Parish Council; 

c) to present some interim findings to the Parish Council and invite discussion on 
those conclusions; 

d) to prepare a report and action plan for Northiam Parish Council and Rother 
District Council setting out ways in which the Parish Council could move 
forward. 

 
2.3 The questionnaire was open for responses through December and January. In 

total, we had 17 responses to the questionnaire.  
 

2.4 We then spent the day speaking to individuals from Northiam on 25 January and 
Sarita Presland carried out a desktop review of the Council’s policies and 
procedures with the assistance of the Clerk on a number of occasions during 
January. This was followed up by a presentation to the Parish Council for phase 
three on 1 March. Although some administrative recommendations were shared 
with the Clerk after that presentation, we agreed that the final report would not be 
delivered until after the May elections as we did not want our review to become a 
focus of the elections nor to be taken out of context. Instead we saw it as a 
roadmap to help the new Council shape the coming priorities of the incoming 
administration. 

 
2.5  Phases one and two provided much of the evidence on which our findings and 

recommendations are based. There were clearly areas of consensus as well as 
areas of disagreement and we should stress that we took lots of positive things 
from our work both about the running of the Council and the dedication of the 
individuals concerned to serving their community. It should be noted that the 
questionnaire and interviews were done on a confidential basis so no individual 
quotes are attributed. It should also be noted that as sample sizes are inevitably 
small we have tried to generalise rather than seek to identify individuals or repeat 
any comments that were made about particular individuals, although inevitably 
some comments make reference to the Chair or the Clerk which is reasonable 
given their particular role within the Council. 

 
 
 
 

Page 20



Findings and recommendations  
 
3.1 Based upon the written and oral comments and responses which we received, 

we gave feedback to a meeting of members and officers of Northiam Parish 
Council, together with the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer of 
Rother District Council and some ex-members of the Parish Council on the 
evening of 1 March 2023 as phase three of the methodology set out in the 
section above.   

 
3.2 We indicated that we would then make detailed recommendations for the 

consideration of the incoming Parish Council as phase four. These are set out in 
this report.  

 

3.3 There is a high degree of consistency as to issues affecting the Parish Council as 
identified in the responses to the questionnaire and the interviews we conducted 
at phases one and two. 

 
3.4 In our view, the key issues are:-  

a) The need for better understanding of the relationship between the Parish 
Council and the CIC and clearer alignment of strategic aims 

b) The need for clearer understanding of the responsibilities of Parish councillors 
and the Clerk and a review of staffing needs to support the Parish Council; 

c) a breakdown in working relations between a number of individuals on the 
Council in the period leading up to May 2023 characterised by mistrust, 
suspicion, disrespectful behaviour and an inability to have any constructive 
dialogue at some meetings or in correspondence between meetings; 

d) the need to improve certain aspects of governance in the Council, in particular 
its financial controls and the way meetings are conducted and 
correspondence dealt with; and 

e) the need to develop a long-term strategy for the community as a whole with 
clear measurable objectives for the Parish Council, with a view to seeking 
majority consensus within the village and thereby becoming less reactive to 
individual events.  

 
3.5 Having considered the information available to us, we therefore set out a series 

of recommendations and an action plan to address each of these issues in the 
sections below. A full list of recommendations is attached at Appendix A. 
 
A. Relationship between the Parish Council and the CIC 

 
Background 
 
3.6 St Francis Fields is a large open site in the centre of Northiam. The site was 

previously owned by Blue Cross as an animal sanctuary but Blue Cross closed 
the site and put it up for sale in 2017. Following a village referendum the Parish 
Council acquired the site in 2020 with the help of a Government loan of £1.3 
million repayable over 50 years with a promise to use the land for community 
benefit. A Community Interest Company (CIC) was established by the Parish 
Council to manage the day-to-day running of the site on its behalf (and on behalf 
of the community more generally).  

Page 21



 
3.7 A CIC is a special type of limited company set up with Government support and 

its purpose is to benefit the community as a whole rather than private 
shareholders as a ‘normal’ company would. The CIC is overseen by the Parish 
Council through a Management Agreement. Under the Management Agreement 
the Council gives the CIC a small annual grant to cover the CIC’s basic 
administrative costs. The CIC is also allowed to authorise expenditure up to £500 
without prior Parish Council approval. However, any expenditure above that 
amount has to be agreed by the Parish Council who are responsible for holding 
and repaying the Government loan. The Council also bears the risk for any 
shortfall in income generated, for example through rents from the site, which are 
insufficient to repay the loan. In effect, therefore the Parish Council is responsible 
for ensuring that the CIC is delivering the community’s requirements for the site 
and the CIC is required to produce business and financial plans for consideration 
by the Council. 

 

3.8 While there was almost universal support for the establishment of the CIC at the 
time, relations have become strained in the intervening period and essentially 
those strains have been the principal reason why the Council has found itself in 
such difficulties with regard to relationships. We should note here that in our 
discussions with individuals we do still firmly believe that the principle of the CIC 
(or at the very least St Francis Fields being owned by and managed for the 
benefit of the community) is still strongly supported. Differences fundamentally 
are about how the land can best be managed and used for the community. 

 

3.9 It was not our role to examine the workings of the CIC nor whether they are 
complying with the Management Agreement. As part of our enquiries, however, 
we did speak with individuals from the CIC who freely admitted that the CIC had 
faced more issues than had perhaps been anticipated and that some of the 
ambitions expressed at the time of the referendum had not come to fruition, been 
scaled back or delayed. Some of these issues were of course caused by the 
Pandemic which could not have been foreseen and some of the issues are 
simply the inevitable evolution of any business where some things prove more 
difficult or have unforeseen legal repercussions and other previously-unforeseen 
opportunities may arise. 

 

3.10 Our role is to examine the working of the Parish Council. However, given the 
fundamental issue of the relationship with the CIC one of our key aims had to be 
to look at that relationship from the Parish Council’s perspective as, until that 
relationship is repaired, it seemed very difficult for the Parish Council to move 
forward on solving other internal issues. The incoming May 2023 Council gives 
an opportunity for that relationship to start again, almost as a ‘Year Zero’ 
proposition. 

 

3.11 In talking to the various individuals, it became clear to us that this schism 
within the Council, and its related breakdown in relations, meant that people on 
the Parish Council had lost sight of their role in holding the CIC to strategic 
account on behalf of the community. Put crudely, there were certain people on 
the Council who were so opposed to the way the CIC was run and the direction it 
was taking, that they simply seemed to oppose anything to do with the CIC and 

Page 22



always imputed the worst motives even to relatively minor matters. By contrast 
the ‘other side’ of the Council seemed simply to act as cheerleaders for the CIC 
whom they felt could do no wrong and had equally lost sight of the need for 
constructive challenge and active management. The way that a number of 
candidates billed themselves in the election reflected that split. 

 

3.12 Yet, as we have said, both sides said that they believed in the concept of the 
land being held in trust for the community and differences ultimately came down 
to what the land may be used for. It would be too grand to say there were 
‘competing visions’ as the truth is neither side could articulate a strategic vision 
for the land beyond vague aspirations and platitudes, and we were concerned 
that there had been no proper discussion of strategy or realistic scrutiny of what 
the CIC’s objectives were or whether they were being met. 

 

3.13 Indeed it seemed to us that the Parish Council had, from the offset, 
miscalculated how much of a burden on the Council scrutinising the CIC would 
be. We will comment further on this when we look at officer support for the 
Council as a whole below, but suffice to say that, despite taking on this very large 
and costly workstream, we were very surprised that no resources had been 
allocated to managing that relationship or overseeing the work of the CIC above 
and beyond the existing workload of the Clerk prior to the CIC. 

 

3.14  The Council has in theory set up an SFF Committee (and the Management 
Agreement sets out a structure for a liaison committee). However, issues around 
the CIC had become so toxic that the SFF Committee was only meeting 
sporadically – for example it met in March 2023 after our visit but according to the 
Council’s website had last met before then in July 2022. Instead CIC business 
was in effect being dealt with at Full Council and was absorbing all the 
‘bandwidth’ of Full Council meetings such that many other important matters in 
the Parish were not getting the attention they deserved and Council meetings 
were becoming increasingly fractious and unworkable. It also meant there had 
been no strategic discussion about what the CIC should be achieving nor 
discussion with the community led by the Council as to what the community’s 
vision for the CIC should be five years on from the referendum. 

 

3.15 We therefore believe that the key priority of the new Council is to get back on 
track in discharging its duty of scrutinising the CIC effectively and working with 
the CIC and community to develop and review a vision for the future of St Francis 
Fields. 

 

3.16 In order to achieve this we make the following recommendations: 
 

R1 The Parish Council should formalise the separation of CIC meetings (called 
SFF Committee) from Full Council meetings. 
 
R2 To undertake a full audit of the CIC Management Agreement and reporting 
on the CIC lease. There is a need for the scrutiny of CIC management accounts 
and use of funding to be assessed and a process for proper definition and 
accounting to be put into place by the Parish Council.   
 

Page 23



R3 There need to be agreed objectives between the CIC and the Parish Council 
and there should be regular reporting back from the CIC to the Parish Council 
against those agreed objectives.   
 
R4 The Parish Council should consider its staffing requirements to ensure that 
it is properly resourced to support its scrutiny of the CIC. This may include 
appointing a CIC Liaison Officer or more generally a project officer so that 
there is better liaison and scrutiny of the CIC and the Parish Council’s 
interests are better protected.   
 
R5 To review the Terms of Reference of the SFF Committee and consider with 
the CIC whether the Parish Council Chair and/or Deputy Chair should be ex 
officio directors of the CIC. This should include an agreement as to what 
matters are delegated to the Committee and which issues relating to the CIC 
must be signed off by Full Council. 
 
R6 The Parish Council should work with the CIC and wider community to 
develop a strategic plan for the village including the use of SFF (see section 
below on wider vision for the Council). This should include in particular a 10-
year plan for the CIC with measurable targets and objectives to allow for 
proper budget forecasting and management. 
 

 
Roles and responsibilities 

 
Role of members 

 

3.17 The section above relates to the relationship between the CIC and the Parish 
Council. If that relationship is not resolved then the Parish Council is likely to 
remain dysfunctional and not serving the best interests of its community through 
its internal divisions. However the rest of this report now focusses on the Parish 
Council more widely. 
 

3.18 The role of councillor, at whatever tier of local government, can be a difficult 
and daunting role, particularly to those who come new to the role. We would 
therefore expect all councils to provide comprehensive induction and ongoing 
development to councillors to support them in their job. This is particularly true in 
the period after all-out elections as is the case in May 2023. We felt that 
councillors at Northiam we spoke to prior to the election were not clear about how 
they should work collectively or individually. The new Council therefore needs to 
do a lot of work to help members understand their role and what is expected of a 
councillor. 

 
3.19 There is a lack of clarity in many parish councils about what individuals do or 

can or should do. The sector of course relies on volunteers and people helping 
out where they can but the formal role must also be understood and boundaries 
not crossed. Of course what each individual can give to the Council varies widely 
– some councillors will work fulltime so cannot devote as much time and energy 
to the role as others. That is perfectly understandable and normal but does need 
to be recognised. However, beyond that Parish councillors need to be clear what 

Page 24



it is they are expected to do and cannot do as individuals.  No Parish councillor 
(including the Chair) can be given delegated individual decision-making 
responsibilities. Decisions can either be made by Full Council, a committee or the 
Clerk depending on the scheme of delegation. Often in practice of course, 
individual councillors (particularly the Chair) will have been authorised by the 
Council to have some individual responsibilities, either because of the need to 
react quickly to developing events or else because of a particular recognised 
expertise. Even in these rare cases, however, any binding decision must formally 
be taken by the Clerk in consultation with the individual and in line with a 
delegation scheme agreed with the Council and subsequently be ratified at a Full 
Council meeting. 

 
3.20 We believe councillors do not have sufficient clarity about their roles and the 

Council should therefore review their schemes of delegation so that councillors 
fully understand it, and agree proper role descriptions and expectations for 
councillors.  

 
3.21 That should include a clear statement of what an individual’s role as a 

councillor in the community is as opposed to their role on the Full Council; and 
what a councillor’s role is with regard to outside appointments where they 
represent the Council – including clarity about what views they should express, 
what they are delegated to say or decide and what they should or should not 
report back.  

 
3.22 In particular the Council should seek to put in place a detailed training 

programme on the role of the parish councillor, understanding the role of the 
clerk, understanding delegated authority, chairing and meeting skills, the Code of 
Conduct, financial regulations and other matters. This also needs to become an 
ongoing package for new councillors.   

 
3.23 We would also expect councillors to undergo regular refresher training 

throughout their term of office. We believe that it is vital councillors have a full 
understanding of their roles and responsibilities before they start to discharge 
their functions, and, while training cannot be made mandatory, the Council should 
therefore consider what training individual councillors must undergo as soon as 
possible after they take up office. They should also consider what training they 
would require of councillors before they are allocated permanent seats on any 
committees or given some individual lead responsibilities to ensure councillors 
understand fully their role and responsibilities on a particular committee in future. 
 

R7 That the Council put in place a detailed training programme on the role of 

the parish councillor, understanding the role of the Clerk, understanding 

delegated authority, chairing and meeting skills, the Code of Conduct (in 

particular to improve understanding of requirements around registration and 

declarations of interest), financial regulations and other matters. 

R8 That councillors recognise that they cannot speak on behalf of the Council 

unless authorised by the Full Council to do so. Any correspondence from 

individual councillors needs to make this clear. 

Page 25



R9 The Council should develop an agreed understanding of the role and 

expectations for individual councillors when they are acting as Full Council, as 

committee members, as individuals and as representatives of the Council 

externally.   

R10 That councillors understand their fiduciary duties and vicarious liability 

and be reminded that they are all individually and severally liable for the 

finances and employment practices of the Council.  Individual councillors 

should therefore be reminded that they should not act alone and unilaterally 

once Council collectively has made a decision or agreed a course of action. 

Nor should councillors act alone on issues such as tree felling without proper 

insurance and risk assessment.   

 
Role of the Clerk 

 
3.24 While councillors set the tone and strategic direction of an authority, the clerk 

is charged with supporting the council and delivering its strategy on a day-to-day 
basis. The Clerk must therefore be resourced adequately and have the 
appropriate skills to do this. 
 

3.25 During the period of our review the Council was supported by a temporary 
locum Clerk, following the resignation of the previous Clerk just before our 
process started. The locum was well qualified in her role and gave the Council 
sound support within the parameters of her role. However, what she could do 
was necessarily limited given she was only employed on a part-time basis. We 
understand the Council is now recruiting a permanent Clerk so will wish to make 
note of our recommendations during that exercise. 

 
3.26 Having a part-time clerk is not unusual for this size of Council but did seem 

inappropriate given the added management of and support for the CIC as 
outlined above.  

 

3.27 All councillors need to recognise that any Clerk’s time is inevitably very limited 
so must be used to maximum effect. The Clerk from our observations actually 
worked beyond her contracted hours as did her predecessors as we understand. 
This is almost inevitable particularly in the run-up to and immediate aftermath of 
Council meetings but the Parish Council should ensure that staff are not over-
burdened, that the workload is sustainable and that they ensure they fulfil their 
duty of care to their staff. That is why all councillors must recognise that there are 
limitations on what the Council can realistically achieve. The Council as a whole 
is the Clerk’s employer and therefore each individual councillor has employment 
responsibilities to ensure that the Clerk has a reasonable working environment 
and is able to manage the workload within contracted hours or else consider as a 
Council what changes to terms and conditions may be necessary to achieve this. 

 

3.28 As a result of this lack of understanding of individual roles, we found that the 
Council had set little strategic direction for the Clerk, was unaware of workloads, 
and there was no clear understanding of what contact with the Clerk was 

Page 26



appropriate on a day-to-day basis nor that individual members should not set 
work priorities for the Clerk. 

 

3.29 The Clerk seemed to be asked to respond to a lot of emails and 
correspondence making very detailed comments and broadly seeking to keep 
going over similar ground. There is of course nothing that can be done to stop 
emails being sent and councillors and the public do have right to seek information 
and raise queries. However, the Council does have to recognise that this can 
place heavy demands on the resources of the Council. Given the other calls on 
the Clerk’s time the Council does therefore need to review its policy in handling 
correspondence and where necessary ensure that the Clerk and Chair are 
empowered to draw a line under certain matters.  

 

3.30 Any policy would probably need two aspects – an agreed period at a meeting 
where governance issues and correspondence could be raised. They should be 
done with sufficient notice to allow a response to be prepared for tabling and/or 
discussion at the meeting. However, the time spent on such matters would have 
to be limited to allow the transaction of other important business. Thus, for 
example, it might be that ten minutes is set aside at the start or end of the 
meeting for any governance issues, and that each member is limited to raising no 
more than one concern. Similarly if the Council collectively is satisfied that the 
matter has been addressed it should not be raised again within an agreed period 
unless circumstances have changed. Standing Orders should make clear that 
resolutions previously made cannot be reversed within six months except by 
special motions or a motion from a committee and that the Council should ensure 
this is enforced to help achieve better governance. 
  

3.31 Matters may well of course occur between meetings which need to be 
answered more quickly so there would still need to be room for correspondence 
from councillors and the public to be dealt with. However, again the Council 
should agree some limits on the amount, what timescales should be agreed for 
any response and, if the matter is not urgent, whether it should be brought to the 
next meeting for agreement. 

 

3.32 The Council of course needs to recognise that a balance needs to be struck 
between allowing councillors and the public to question issues on the one hand 
and the Council and clerk to be able to operate within its limited resources and 
work with agreed collective responsibility on the other hand so any protocol would 
need to strike that balance to the satisfaction of the Council collectively. 
 

3.33 We also believe it would help the Council and the Clerk if some form of 
schedule of work was prepared. This would help the Council to recognise what 
was a reasonable expectation on the Clerk and be clear with the Clerk what the 
priorities on her limited time should be. The Society of Local Council Clerks 
(SLCC) has a useful calendar available to clerks to remind them of what needs 
doing when. The Clerk should get this timetable and share it with councillors so 
that it can inform this work schedule. 

 
3.34 Obviously line management is an important part of the Council’s duty of care 

towards the Clerk. Again, as with many parish councils, there is obviously some 

Page 27



line management issues with only one employee and the Council as a whole as 
the employer. It must be generally recognised that there will inevitably be the 
need for a close working relationship between the Chair and the Clerk given their 
respective roles, and it is important that is seen to be professional.  

 
3.35 The Council should also review the performance appraisal system to ensure 

that it measures performance against targets with a view both to helping the 
Clerk develop and ensuring she is rewarded appropriately. The County 
Association should be able to provide a template if needed. Having a schedule of 
work would help with that process.  

 
3.36 The Council also need to understand and recognise the role of the Clerk and 

Responsible Finance Officer (RFO).  As the Proper Officer the Clerk is 
appropriately indemnified to advise Council and if necessary make emergency 
decisions (reported to councillors, whose advice she may seek, and subsequently 
get ratified by full council).  Councillors must in particular beware of the rule of 
ultra vires.  Even as chair all decisions need to be actioned through the Clerk as 
she considers appropriate.  One example cited to us was playground 
inspections.  Regular visual checks can be carried out by anyone and reported to 
the Clerk, damaged trees can be reported etc, but all remedial actions need to go 
through the Clerk, to ensure health and safety regulations are being adhered to 
and any actions requiring payments are shown to be transparent and according 
to financial regulations.   

 
3.37 The comments above all relate to the Clerk’s role as currently established. 

However, particularly in light of the work with the CIC, we felt that the Council 
was under-resourced at current staffing levels. There is a balance to be struck in 
any public administration between what one might call ‘maintenance’ on the one 
hand – that is, the day-to-day running of the council through, for example 
supporting meetings, carrying out statutory duties etc – and what one might call 
‘progression’ – taking forward longer-term goals and projects. The more 
ambitious a council is in terms of strategy the more it needs to decide where the 
balance lies between maintenance and progression and if it is adequately 
resourced to deliver both. Our view is that at current resource level the Clerk can 
do little other than focus on maintenance and if the Council is to grow its 
ambitions it needs to have adequate support in place to develop the progression 
aspect of the role. We therefore think that, as well as recruiting a new clerk, the 
Council needs to consider further resources. We have mentioned above, for 
example, an officer dedicated to liaison with the CIC. Another possibility may be a 
‘project officer’ who could have that role and oversee other ‘progression’ delivery. 
Or it may be that you want the Clerk to concentrate more on progression so you 
recruit a deputy who essentially takes over the administration and/or financial 
management to free up the Clerk’s time. We are not being prescriptive as the 
Council can best make an assessment of its needs, supported by the experience 
of the current locum, and we are conscious that any new role would have 
resource implications. However, we believe that it would be a worthwhile 
investment to help move the Council forward and sticking with current resources 
does not help the Council become more ‘progressive’.  

 

Page 28



3.38 One final area which was raised with us was the issue of councillor access to 
officer time. While councillor access to officers is important, in many parishes 
there is a risk that some councillors spend too much time in the office pursuing 
their own agenda, stopping higher priority work being done. The Council should, 
as part of its staffing review, look at how officer contact with councillors is 
regulated – for example by putting a system in place where councillors can only 
see officers during working hours by prior appointment, or for a set time unless by 
prior appointment, or only at particular times of day. The aim would be to strike a 
balance between allowing councillors to raise their own local priorities and issues 
and support officers with advice while allowing officers time to carry out their job 
and run the office effectively.  

 
3.39 We know the Council is actively recruiting a new Clerk. We believe that, 

before appointing somebody permanently to the role, the Council needs to put 
these measures in place, in particular a schedule of work, and decide whether 
the currently-contracted hours overall are sufficient to meet the Council’s needs, 
in particular with regard to progression, and if so how they expect work to be 
prioritised within those hours to avoid excess working becoming the norm. 

 
 

Recommendations 
 
R11 The Council needs to review its staffing needs. In particular it needs to 

recruit a permanent Clerk who is CiLCA qualified. 

R12 The Council and the Clerk should agree a work schedule to ensure that 

staff’s limited availability is focussed and that there are realistic expectations 

on their time.  

R13 The Council needs to agree a councillor-officer protocol which would 
include a shared agreement as to the circumstances when 

councillors should have access to officer time and how the clerk should 
respond to queries from individual councillors. 

 
R14 The Council should review its policy as to how correspondence is dealt 

with and responded to without absorbing the limited administrative 
resources available to the Council. This would include an agreed policy for 

dealing with persistent or vexatious correspondence. 
 
R15 The Council should agree how governance issues should be raised in 
meetings to allow reasonable discussion but also to allow other business to 
be transacted. 
 
R16 Once the Council has set a long-term strategy it should review whether its 

current staffing structure is in line with that strategy and able to help the 

Council deliver it and that the Clerk’s key performance objectives and time are 

geared to deliver that strategy. 

R17 The Council need to understand and recognise the role of the Clerk and 

RFO to ensure health and safety regulations are being adhered to and any 

Page 29



actions requiring payments are shown to be transparent and according to 

financial regulations.   

R18 The Council should ensure that the Clerk and the Council make best use 

of external support and advice from its memberships of professional bodies.   

R19 The Council should ensure that there is an appropriate performance 
appraisal framework in place for the Clerk which supports 

development of the Clerk and ensures performance is rewarded accordingly.   
 

Behaviour 
 

3.40 The principal reason that we were asked by Rother to review and support the 
Parish Council was because of a series of complaints made about the behaviour 
of councillors, in particular alleged lack of respect and personal attacks on the 
characters of individuals. 
  

3.41 While our review went wider than a focus on behaviour and looked at what 
underlay some of the issues it is clear to us that the issue of respect needs to be 
addressed by the Parish Council before it can begin to improve its working 
processes as outlined in the rest of this report. 

 

3.42 Our experience from working with the councillors and observing the Parish 
Council is that there was a high level of animosity between certain councillors 
which was holding the Parish Council back. This animosity was almost 
exclusively driven by disagreements around the direction of the CIC as set out 
above, although the issues had moved on from being ‘policy differences’ to 
ingrained animosity and more personalised attacks, as well as disputes about the 
wider administration of the Parish Council. This has led to several previous clerks 
having left as they have to some extent been caught in crossfire between the 
mutual distrust between two groups of members and been perceived as siding 
with one particular part of the dispute. The way that these disagreements are 
articulated on both sides has at times gone way beyond legitimate disagreements 
about policy or procedures and has descended into disruptive behaviour, 
allegations being made which question the integrity of individuals and an 
unwillingness to engage in debate or allow legitimate concerns to be raised. 
These comments were made in meetings and in widely-circulated emails. Such 
comments often lead to a downward spiral and what can start as a legitimate 
question or concern descends into disrespectful comments and unevidenced 
allegations of wrongdoing which simply leads to positions becoming entrenched 
and the Council closing in on itself with defensive positions. The whole culture of 
the Parish Council thereby becomes deeply unprofessional and brings the Parish 
Council into disrepute. 

 

3.43 It is our experience from working with other councils where they have similar 
issues that such ways of communicating do nothing to bring about the positive 
change that may be needed to improve the governance of the organisation or 
help the clerk do their job effectively. Instead personal comments or allegations 
which question people’s motives or make unfounded accusations of corruption 
and illegality based on assumptions simply make people defensive, stifle 

Page 30



legitimate concerns and lead to tit-for-tat accusations which mire the council in 
animosity. 

 

3.44 If councillors are serious about bringing about the change that is needed they 
must therefore start to work together collectively as a team and stop personal 
attacks and feeding the flames of such attacks. Councils, like any organisation, 
have to work collectively to achieve the best outcomes, and if people feel they 
cannot work collectively but must resort to disrespectful comments and 
questioning people’s motives with little or no evidence then it would be better if 
they left the Council as it cannot change while such poison exists within the 
organisation. 

 

3.45 We should say that it is of course vital to any organisation, and in particular to 
a democratically-elected body, that people can challenge decisions, put forward 
opposing views and raise concerns that matters are not being implemented 
properly. However there is a world of difference between discussing those 
matters in a dignified and respectful way and simply being confrontational and 
imputing the worst possible motives to matters with which you disagree. It is 
acceptable to challenge ideas with which you disagree. It is unacceptable to 
make personal attacks on individuals in an intolerant and disrespectful way. In 
our schools we teach our children about Fundamental British Values. These 
include tolerance and respect for other people and their values and beliefs. We 
are afraid that certain individuals on the Council seemed to have lost sight of 
those values. 

 

3.46 Councillors therefore need as a priority to stop behaving in this way if they 
have the interests of the Council and the community as a whole as their priority. 
The Council does need to change in certain aspects, and some of the concerns 
raised are legitimate, but change will only happen when councillors start to 
respect and tolerate each other. 

 

3.47 Of course we recognise that a more rational and trusting atmosphere will work 
most effectively when all feel they have confidence in the Council. There are 
legitimate policy differences within the Council, particularly with regard to the CIC, 
and concerns about the way the Council operates but the way in which they have 
been raised and the way that the two sides have taken entrenched positions has 
made addressing them impossible. So there needs to be an agreement from all 
the new Council to deal with matters in a calmer and more rational way while the 
recommendations set out in other sections to improve the Council are adopted 
and implemented.  

 
3.48 We should stress that we think that all councillors we spoke to and met had 

the best interests of Northiam at heart and, while their view of what was best for 
Northiam, and for St Francis Fields in particular, differed between individuals, that 
to us simply reflects a legitimate democratic plurality. We were struck by the 
near-universal view that, if the issue of the CIC had not arisen, then the Council 
would not be facing these issues and actually the recognition from both sides that 
ultimately their differences were policy issues rather than irreconcilable 
personality clashes, which we have seen too often elsewhere. We therefore 
believe that if the relationship between the Council and the CIC can be re-set as 

Page 31



above, the new Council has the potential to put these differences behind them 
and focus on working collectively for the good of their community. Councillors 
must accept, however, that decisions with which they disagree does not mean 
that decision is automatically wrong or the motives behind it wrong – it simply 
means that collectively the Council has decided to act in a particular way and 
once a decision has been taken by the Council, the Council is perfectly entitled to 
implement that decision.  Similarly the Council must ensure that where people do 
have opposing views which are relevant to the matter in hand that those 
concerns are listened to provided they remain respectful and a reasonable 
amount of debate is allowed. It can be too easy to want to shut down discussion 
because matters are becoming polarised or personal or being unnecessarily 
prolonged and this highlights why it is important for behaviour on all sides to 
become more respectful before some of the issues outlined elsewhere can be 
resolved. The relationship of the Council to the CIC must be one of a critical 
friend and needs to avoid being either simply a cheerleader or simply opposing 
which is what the situation has been until now. 

 

3.49 The majority of individuals we spoke to felt very strongly that meetings were 
difficult and the tone of debate, both at meetings and in correspondence, 
reflected very badly on the Council. The Council was referred to on a number of 
times as a ‘laughing stock’ and that the community as a whole had lost faith in it 
being able to run effectively. While we ourselves did not observe meetings first-
hand we did see a number of email exchanges and have seen the Code of 
Conduct complaints which were made and the weight of evidence inclines us to 
believe that this pattern of behaviour does exist and is unacceptable. We think 
some councillors would be surprised at how they came across and how meetings 
were conducted if they could observe them.  

 

3.50 We were also concerned that too much time was being spent on going over 
old issues, individual councillors seeking to raise issues with the Clerk and asking 
for ‘rulings’ on issues and too much time was being spent by the Clerk having to 
deal with emails about repetitive issues. We have commented on the use of the 
Clerk’s time in future in the section above but we think the Council needs to have 
an agreed email policy which allows the Clerk time and space to focus on other 
aspects of the role. 

 

3.51 We also believe that it is the responsibility of all councillors to challenge 
disrespectful behaviour in the Council chamber and support the meeting in being 
run effectively with the right balance between debate and getting the business 
done. The Council collectively should therefore agree where the boundaries of 
respect lie and how that should be enforced in meetings. A key way of doing this 
would be for the new Council to sign up to the NALC/SLCC Civility and Respect 
Pledge and ensure that this is effectively implemented.  

 

3.52 We therefore think the Parish Council needs to agree the following actions: 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
R20 The Parish Council should sign up to the Civility & Respect Pledge and 

collectively agree what language is and is not appropriate in meetings and 

Page 32



correspondence among councillors and with the Clerk, how such language 

should be challenged in meetings and how meetings can be run more 

efficiently without getting bogged down in minutiae nor stifling legitimate 

debate. Behaviour needs to be re-set.  

R21 The Council needs to adopt an email policy, for example that no member 

shall send more than two emails a day to the Clerk and no email should be 

more than a page of A4 in length. If the policy is breached the Clerk will simply 

reply to say that the email will not be responded to as it falls outside the 

policy. There may be exceptions for significant urgent matters but the Council 

as a whole shall agree a definition of what those exceptions should be. All 

emails should go through the Clerk.   

R22 All councillors should give an undertaking to treat fellow councillors and 

officers with respect and not to make personal attacks on individuals or their 

integrity. Until such respect is shown the Council cannot move forward. If 

personal attacks are made in future the matter should be referred to Rother 

District Council who will deal with the matter against set criteria and will 

ensure that anything that falls below the Council’s agreed standards is 

appropriately dealt with and breaches of the Code are sanctioned and 

publicised. 

R23 All councillors should undertake that, where they have concerns about the 

way a decision has been made or a procedure followed they should discuss 

this with the Clerk and the Clerk should be allowed to give a ruling with 

reasons such as a reference to existing policy or legislation as to whether or 

not the concern is legitimate. This ruling should be communicated to all 

councillors. Where the concern is legitimate such a ruling should include the 

steps needed either to rectify the matter with an agreed timescale or the 

changes needed to prevent the matter re-occurring. Where the majority of 

councillors accept that the concern has been dealt with, the matter cannot be 

raised again for six months. 

 
Policies and procedures 
 
3.53 Aside from the behavioural issues, we also carried out an in-depth look at the 

governance and administration of the Council. The following sections look at 
each of the areas we examined in turn and make a series of recommendations, 
starting with our review of the Council’s policies and procedures. 
 

3.54 Overall, we felt there were significant gaps in the policies and procedures at 
the Parish Council, or if they did exist they were not available through the Council 
website.  

 
3.55 In particular the Council needs to update its Standing Orders and Financial 

Regulations and there seemed to be significant issues with payment of accounts 
and proper budget setting. At the time of our review only one councillor was 
authorising payments, and the Council also had no evidence of sufficient 

Page 33



reserves (which should be a minimum of six months running costs) in place. We 
are aware that the locum Clerk has been addressing this area as a matter of 
priority but the new Council will need to satisfy itself that there are now sufficiently 
robust financial controls in place. 

 
3.56 This relates to the issues raised about staffing levels above but the Council 

needs to specify and formalise the role of the Council’s Responsible Finance 
Officer (RFO) and ensure it has proper budgeting measures and a budget cycle 
implemented so that it can better plan its budget strategy for coming years. It 
seemed to us there was too little analysis of what expenditure was actually 
needed and too much focus simply on an ‘overall’ budget figure which would then 
simply be drawn from through the year. The RFO role was appointed to in 
February on a temporary basis as we understand it but this will need to be 
considered on a more permanent basis in the future. 

 

3.57 We identified a number of gaps where we thought significant policies were 
missing or out-of-date or at least not accessible. These included an Equal 
Opportunities Policy, Disciplinary and Grievance Policy, Health and Safety Policy, 
Sickness and Absence Policy, Code of Conduct Complaints Policy, Member-
Officer Protocol, Policy on FOI requests and Council Publication Scheme, Data 
Protection (GDPR) Policy, Bullying Policy, and a Recording of Meetings Policy. 

 
3.58 In light of comments made above about the role of individual councillors and 

the potential liability issues, we think the Council should also consider adopting a 
Trees and Open Space Maintenance Policy, and a Severe Weather Policy.  

 
3.59 We also believe there is some confusion around what information held by the 

Council members are entitled to see as a matter of course. Councillors in general 
are entitled to see most information held by the Council, including confidential 
information not available to the public, in order to help them do their job. There 
will always, however, be circumstances where a council is legally entitled to 
regard certain information as confidential. The law itself sets out grounds for 
certain business to be considered in private by the council and it is widely 
recognised through case law and elsewhere that not all councillors are entitled to 
see all information at all times, as some personal information for example has to 
be regarded as confidential unless there is a demonstrable need for an individual 
to have access to that information to carry out their duties. 

 
3.60 We therefore think the Council needs to agree a ‘need to know’ policy to 

establish a common understanding of where the boundaries of confidentiality and 
access to information might lie. This would also cover any information held by 
individual councillors and be tied closely to the Council’s responsibility to protect 
information under GDPR. 

 
3.61 The Council also needs to have a robust communications and social media 

policy in place. We felt the Council had been too internally focussed because of 
its disputes so was not communicating its work well to the local community. We 
address some of these issues below when looking at long-term strategy, but we 
think the Council should discuss how it will better communicate externally. This 
would include how social media is used both by the Council collectively and by 

Page 34



individual councillors. It is important that councillors and parishioners recognise 
what is permissible and within the realms of appropriate comment, and agree 
how, for example, Facebook, Twitter, and the Council’s own website could be 
used as effective and informative channels of communication by the Council 
itself.   
 

Recommendations 
 
R24 The Council needs to update its Standing Orders and Financial 
Regulations.   
 
R25 Payment of accounts needs to be resolved immediately and the Council 
needs to formalise the role of RFO and financial matters need to be put onto a 
firmer footing, in particular with proper budgeting measures implemented.   
 
R26 A full suite of policies need to be in place and published on the website. 
These should include: 

• Equal Opportunities Policy 

• Disciplinary and Grievance Policy 

• Health and Safety Policy 

• Sickness and Absence Policy 

• Code of Conduct, Complaints Policy 

• Councillor-Officer Protocol 

• FOI requests and publication scheme 

• Data Protection (GDPR) Policy 

• Bullying Policy  

• Recording of Meetings Policy  
 

R27 The Council need to formalise a Trees and Open Space Maintenance 
Policy, and Severe Weather Policy with appropriate Risk Assessments in 
place.  
 
R28 The Council needs to adopt a Communications and Social Media Policy 
which would cover both appropriate use of social media by individuals and the 
Council’s own approach to communications and social media as an 
organisation. In particular it should consider producing its own newsletter to 
be delivered to every household in the parish, and to develop a Facebook 
page.   
 
Meetings 

 
3.62 We heard how some meetings have been difficult to run because of conflict in 

the meetings and the disruptive behaviour arising from this conflict. This was a 
constant theme running through the questionnaires and face-to-face interviews. 
This section therefore makes some recommendations for making meetings run 
more effectively and efficiently. 
 

3.63 Although we did not attend Council meetings and therefore have not seen 
them at first hand, it was clear to us from all that we have been told and noted 

Page 35



from our reading of past minutes that Council meetings have become 
increasingly difficult to manage and need to be run much more efficiently so that 
business can be transacted.   

 
3.64 Everybody is dissatisfied with the way the meetings take place. Too much 

time is spent revisiting matters, in particular the work of the CIC which seems to 
have taken up so much bandwidth that other matters are not debated properly. 
We have said above that the relationship with the CIC should be dealt with 
primarily through the SFF Committee rather than at Full Council. But more 
generally people seem to have stopped listening to each other and meetings 
need to become genuine discussions again rather than disagreements. 
Individuals need to accept that it is perfectly fine to disagree and healthy debate 
is to be encouraged as it leads to better decision-making but there must be a 
recognition that once a decision is made that is the democratic decision of the 
Council. It must also be recognised that a balance needs to be struck between 
progressing the business of the meeting effectively and not unnecessarily 
stopping discussion.  

 
3.65 As set out above we therefore recommend that the Parish Council should 

draw up a proper protocol about how councillors treat each other which needs to 
be properly enforced. Matters should be properly managed in meetings and the 
standards framework should not be used to air disputes about personalities or 
perceived procedural failings.  

 
3.66 We would always look to the Chair of a meeting to enforce behaviour 

standards clearly, firmly and fairly. The role of the Chair is to act as an impartial 
referee, to ensure that people are treated equitably, everyone is encouraged to 
contribute to the debate and that the meeting is conducted in an orderly and civil 
way. A Chair should know when to seek advice from the Clerk but should not let 
the Clerk run the meeting. A Chair also needs to be conversant with Standing 
Orders and ensure that they are applied. However, the Chair also needs the 
support of other members to ensure that Standing Orders are consistently and 
fairly applied. Our comments are not meant as a particular criticism of previous 
chairs but rather reflect that councillors in general felt that meetings were not 
being effective because of disruptive behaviour and the balance being wrong 
about how some discussions were held. For example, from what we were told far 
too much time was allowed on procedural issues or debating previous minutes 
which was not an efficient use of Council time, whereas on the other hand 
concerns were raised that not enough time was allowed for more significant items 
and members could feel unwilling to contribute for fear of being criticised or 
denigrated. For a meeting to be effective and efficient, all members need to 
accept that the meeting needs to remain focussed on the business at hand and 
that greater support is needed for the Chair from members in conducting 
meetings.   

 
3.67 To ensure that debate can be managed efficiently, we believe the Parish 

Council needs to enforce a ‘three minute’ rule at its meetings as set out in its 
Standing Orders – that is people’s interventions in meetings – whether councillors 
or the public - should be strictly limited to three minutes and, when the three 
minutes is up, they should stop speaking. Everybody is entitled to an equal say at 

Page 36



meetings but all should equally respect that others should have an input and 
interventions should be limited to allow the meeting to proceed. It seemed to us 
from what we were told by a number of people that people were not being treated 
fairly – some people were being allowed to speak for too long, some people were 
being cut off and some people felt they did not want to speak, either for risk of 
prolonging already-lengthy discussions or because they felt intimidated by the 
atmosphere in the room.  

 
3.68 There may of course be times when an agenda item is of such significance 

that councillors collectively will wish to speak for more than two or three minutes. 
Any waiving of the rule for a particular item should be proposed by the Chair at 
the start of a meeting and agreed by the meeting. 

 
3.69 We also believe it would be helpful to have a timetable alongside the agenda 

of how long can be spent on each agenda item so that the business of the 
meeting can be progressed, and not too much time spent, for example, 
discussing the wording of previous minutes or raising procedural issues. Again 
the Chair could waive the timetable should the meeting collectively agree that an 
item was more significant than initially considered.  

 
3.70 Similarly, the public should only be addressing meetings at the appropriate 

time and there needed to be a consistent approach to public participation and 
management of any disruption. The public need to be clear what the role of public 
participation is and where the balance is between hearing from the public and 
allowing the Council to transact its business. Public Time is not strictly part of the 
Council meeting and apart from a brief note of what questions/concerns were 
raised no other notes or decisions need to be taken by the Clerk or recorded. 
There is a danger if its role is not understood by all that this part of the meeting 
takes over and is overly long. Standing Orders should make it clear there is 
three-minute maximum speaking time per person, and the entire public time 
session should last no longer than 15 minutes. This is in line with accepted 
national practice. A short explanation of the role, purpose and duration of Public 
Questions should be given to every member of the public attending every 
meeting to reinforce this matter. It can also be good practice for the Chair to ask 
the public present at a meeting if they wish to speak and if so on what topic so 
that time can be managed. Thus for example, if several people all wish to speak 
on the same topic the Chair might encourage them to elect a spokesperson to 
speak on their behalf to avoid repetition and ensure that the business of the 
meeting can proceed in a timely way. 
 

3.71  It would also be helpful if all councillors had a pack which contains all 
policies, Financial Regulations and Standing Orders that they bring to each and 
every meeting to aid understanding and avoid confusion. 

 
3.72 We also want to cover the taking of minutes. Charles Arnold-Baker (the so-

called Parish Bible) says “minutes should be a formal record of official acts and 
decisions, not reports, still less verbatim reports of the speeches made by 
councillors. Minutes should, therefore, be as short as is consistent with clarity and 
accuracy, and the arguments used in the discussion need be recorded only if the 
decision cannot be clearly expressed in any other way.”  

Page 37



 
3.73 We believe too much time has been spent at meetings arguing about minutes 

of previous meetings. We therefore recommend that Council agree that minutes 
follow the model of simply being a recording of the decision rather than a 
verbatim record. As it is important that all councillors are clear what has been 
agreed we recommend that at the end of each item the Chair asks the Clerk to 
read out what they believe has been agreed as the decision for that item so that 
all present are clear and agree that what has been noted is sufficient for the 
minutes. 

 
3.74 Minutes should be agreed at the following meeting and cannot be deferred 

under any circumstances save in the event of manifest error. The Council also 
needs to be clear that amendments can only be proposed by those who attended 
the meeting and should be factual only rather than opinion. Likewise, when 
minutes come to be agreed it is not legal or appropriate for somebody to add in 
further comments as to the validity of the narrative especially if they did not 
attend the meeting.   

 
3.75 Finally, those meetings uploaded to the website we looked at did not include 

supporting papers and minute reporting was in general very poor for previous 
meetings.  The web pages of the Council also need updating. Incidentally, to 
include new councillor details and interests.   
 

Recommendations  
 
R29 All councillors need to be familiar with Standing Orders and should have 

a pack which contains all policies, Financial Regulations and Standing Orders 

that they bring to each and every meeting to aid understanding and avoid 

confusion.    

R30 The ‘three-minute’ rule in Standing Orders should be enforced and all 

councillors should support the Chair in ensuring the meeting is run efficiently 

and without conflict. The rule may be waived in exceptional circumstances 

where an agenda item is of particular significance but this must be agreed at 

the start of the agenda item and a revised time limit (say five minutes) agreed. 

R31 The Council should set an agenda with indicative timings so that the 

meeting can be progressed and the timetable waived only with agreement at 

the meeting. 

R32 The Council needs to have clear rules for public participation which 

should limit contributions to allow council business to progress.   

R33 Minutes should be agreed at the following meeting. Amendments can only 

be proposed by those who attended the meeting and should be factual only 

rather than opinion.  

R34 Minutes are a record of the decisions made at meetings and whilst some 

brief narrative is required they should not be verbatim but should serve to help 

anybody understand the process by which a decision is made.  So they should 

Page 38



be written to make clear the decision taken with some brief summary of 

matters considered for and against. 

R35 Meetings should be uploaded to the website with supporting papers and 

the web pages of the Council kept up to date with councillor details and a link 

to registers of interests.   

 
Ambition and strategy 
 
3.76 As stated above, too much time has been spent in dispute over the CIC and 

focus has been lost on any longer-term ambitions. We therefore believe the 
Council needs to refocus on a strategic vision which looks at what it wants to 
achieve over the next five to ten years. This should focus on agreeing realistic 
aims, financial planning and milestones. This needs then to be matched up with 
the resources needed to deliver that vision; and in particular in developing the 
future of SFF in consultation with the CIC and the wider community.  

 
3.77 While not everyone will share the same vision, the Council needs to work 

together to come to a collective understanding and then ensure there is an 
agreed consensus to deliver those plans for the people of Northiam.  

 

3.78 As part of this we consider that the Council should refresh its relationship with 
the community. It is always a difficult issue for any council at this level and with 
limited resources to ensure it is sufficiently strategic and engaged with its 
community, but we think the Council is capable of such engagement and it is 
particularly important given current circumstances that the new council is seen to 
consult widely on its future priorities and to have engaged as fully as possible 
with the community about its work so that it is clear what the community as a 
whole wants. The Council should consider how this relationship is best nurtured – 
for example through one or a series of open days where the community are 
invited to help shape priorities and agree objectives. 

 
3.79 Any plan developed must then be accepted as the plan for the Council but 

must be properly costed and resourced appropriately.  
 

3.80 We believe that all councils should be aspirational and demonstrate to their 
public that they are working effectively. We think this is particularly important for 
Northiam Parish Council in future given the issues it has faced. In our view there 
is no reason why, once it has developed a deliverable strategy, Northiam should 
not be capable of becoming an outstanding council for its size and receiving 
external validation for its work. We therefore recommend that the Council Chair 
and Clerk actively seek opportunities on behalf of the Council to learn from and 
share best practice with outstanding councils in their vicinity.  A good starting 
place would be to look at local councils in the East Sussex area who have been 
recipients of the Local Council Award Scheme – information on this is available 
from the National Association of Local Councils and the County Association. 

 
Recommendations  
 

Page 39



R36 The Council should develop a process for strategic planning with a view 

to the new Council developing a strategic plan for its term of office, to be 

agreed by the Council collectively. This should be a fully costed and resourced 

long-term strategic plan for the parish and the community, including strategic 

aims for SFF.  

R37 The Council should engage with the community and with the CIC in 

developing its long-term plan and should review its communication strategy in 

conjunction with the public to evaluate its effectiveness and ensure that the 

public understands the work of the Parish Council, is engaged in developing a 

vision for Northiam and is able to participate more fully in local decision-

making. This engagement work needs to demonstrate the value of the Council 

to the community and encourage the community to become engaged in 

shaping the future.  

R38 The Council Chair and Clerk should look to learn from and share best 

practice with outstanding local councils both in developing strategy and a 

communications policy.  

 
Monitoring of this plan 
 
3.81 While these recommendations are a matter for Northiam Parish Council, we 

feel it is important that they are accountable for ensuring that these actions are 
considered properly and, where appropriate, followed. We therefore think Rother 
District Council needs to be able to monitor progress. Whilst the District Council 
does give valuable support to Northiam this support comes at a price in terms of 
time and resources, and it is important that in due course Northiam’s demands on 
officer time at Rother are substantially reduced. 
 

3.82 The Parish Council’s first steps should therefore be to review and prioritise 
these recommendations and share its implementation plan. When it has done so 
it should provide a copy to Rother District Council. This initial implementation plan 
should be drawn up within six weeks of the report being presented to the Council. 
Some of the recommendations need urgent action to get business back on an 
even keel but should be relatively straightforward and some have already been 
initiated by the locum Clerk – for example, the review and enforcement of policies 
and financial regulations; others have a longer-term output but are strategically 
important. It goes without saying that the modification of behaviours, the 
consideration of the Civility and Respect Pledge and strategies surrounding the 
improvement of behaviour should be treated with the utmost urgency and as a 
priority, as is the rebuilding of the relationship with the CIC and recruitment of a 
new permanent Clerk. We have not put deadlines on the recommendations but 
the Parish Council should meet and agree an over-arching action plan to put 
these recommendations into place by no later than six weeks from the receipt of 
this report. 

 

3.83 The Council need also to be aware that if the internal issues at Northiam do 
not improve to Rother’s satisfaction, Rother is entitled to carry out a Community 

Page 40



Governance Review in consultation with the local community (which could have 
as an outcome a recommendation for the dissolution of Northiam Parish Council).  

 

3.84 In conclusion, the onus must be on Northiam Parish Council to adopt the 
recommendations noted in this report and bring about modified behaviours and 
the cultural change that is required to enable the Council to function effectively. 
Councillors must strive to work out their differences maturely and professionally 
and ensure that they are properly holding the CIC to account in line with the 
Management Agreement. Otherwise the Council needs to be aware that if the 
internal issues in Northiam Parish Council do not improve, it could find itself the 
subject of a Community Governance Review including the option to dissolve the 
Parish Council.  

 
Recommendations 
 
R39 Where Northiam Parish Council needs to use external support to comply 

with these recommendations, they should consult with Rother District Council 

and the East Sussex Association before agreeing such support to ensure they 

have considered all the options and are obtaining expert advice at value for 

money. 

R40 Northiam Parish Council should develop an initial implementation plan 

within six weeks of receipt of the report which should be shared with the 

Monitoring Officer of Rother District Council. They should also report on their 

progress in implementing this action plan to the monitoring officer in six 

months and again in 12 months after the date of the plan.  

R41 If the new Council is still not operating effectively and relationships have 

not improved after this 12-month review Rother District Council should 

consider a full review of the viability of the Council continuing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



Appendix A 
 
Summary list of recommendations  
 
R1 The Parish Council should formalise the separation of CIC meetings (called 
SFF Committee) from Full Council meetings. 
 
R2 To undertake a full audit of the CIC Management Agreement and reporting 
on the CIC lease.  There is a need for the scrutiny of CIC management 
accounts and use of funding to be assessed and a process for proper 
definition and accounting to be put into place by the Parish Council.   
 
R3 There need to be agreed objectives between the CIC and the Parish Council 
and there should be regular reporting back from the CIC to the Parish Council 
against those agreed objectives.   
 
R4 The Parish Council should consider its staffing requirements to ensure that 
it is properly resourced to support its scrutiny of the CIC. This may include 
appointing a CIC Liaison Officer or more generally a project officer so that 
there is better liaison and scrutiny of the CIC and the Parish Council’s 
interests are better protected.   
 
R5 To review the Terms of Reference of the SFF Committee and consider with 
the CIC whether the Parish Council Chair and/or Deputy Chair should be ex 
officio directors of the CIC. This should include an agreement as to what 
matters are delegated to the Committee and which issues relating to the CIC 
must be signed off by Full Council. 
 
R6 The Parish Council should work with the CIC and wider community to 
develop a strategic plan for the village including the use of SFF (see section 
below on wider vision for the Council). This should include in particular a 10-
year plan for the CIC with measurable targets and objectives to allow for 
proper budget forecasting and management. 
 
R7 That the Council put in place a detailed training programme on the role of 

the Parish Councillor, understanding the role of the Clerk, understanding 

delegated authority, chairing and meeting skills, the Code of Conduct (in 

particular to improve understanding of requirements around registration and 

declarations of interest), financial regulations and other matters. 

R8 That councillors recognise that they cannot speak on behalf of the Council 

unless authorised by the Full Council to do so. Any correspondence from 

individual councillors needs to make this clear 

R9 The Council should develop an agreed understanding of the role and 

expectations for individual councillors when they are acting as Full Council, as 

committee members, as individuals and as representatives of the Council 

externally.   

Page 42



R10 That councillors understand their fiduciary duties and vicarious liability 

and be reminded that they are all individually and severally liable for the 

finances and employment practices of the Council.  Individual councillors 

should therefore be reminded that they should not act alone and unilaterally 

once Council collectively has made a decision or agreed a course of action. 

Nor should councillors act alone on issues such as tree felling without proper 

insurance and risk assessment.   

R11 The Council needs to review its staffing needs. In particular it needs to 

recruit a permanent Clerk who is CiLCA qualified. 

R12 The Council and the Clerk should agree a work schedule to ensure that 

staff’s limited availability is focussed and that there are realistic expectations 

on their time.  

R13 The Council needs to agree a councillor-officer protocol which would 

include a shared agreement as to the circumstances when councillors should 

have access to officer time and how the Clerk should respond to queries from 

individual councillors.  

R14 The Councils should review its policy as to how correspondence is dealt 

with and responded to without absorbing the limited administrative resources 

available to the Council. This would include an agreed policy for dealing with 

persistent or vexatious correspondence.  

R15 The Council should agree how governance issues should be raised in 
meetings to allow reasonable discussion but also to allow other business to 
be transacted. 
 
R16 Once the Council has set a long-term strategy it should review whether its 

current staffing structure is in line with that strategy and able to help the 

Council deliver it and that the clerk’s key performance objectives and time are 

geared to deliver that strategy. 

R17 The Council need to understand and recognise the role of the Clerk and 

RFO to ensure health and safety regulations are being adhered to and any 

actions requiring payments are shown to be transparent and according to 

financial regulations.   

R18 The Council should ensure that the Clerk and the Council make best use 

of external support and advice from its memberships of professional bodies.  

R19 The Council should ensure that there is an appropriate performance 

appraisal framework in place for the Clerk which supports development of the 

Clerk and ensures performance is rewarded accordingly.  

R20 The Parish Council should sign up to the Civility & Respect Pledge and 

collectively agree what language is and is not appropriate in meetings and 

correspondence among councillors and with the Clerk, how such language 

should be challenged in meetings and how meetings can be run more 

Page 43



efficiently without getting bogged down in minutiae nor stifling legitimate 

debate. Behaviour needs to be re-set.  

R21 The Council needs to adopt an email policy, for example that no member 

shall send more than two emails a day to the Clerk and no email should be 

more than a page of A4 in length. If the policy is breached the Clerk will simply 

reply to say that the email will not be responded to as it falls outside the 

policy. There may be exceptions for significant urgent matters but the Council 

as a whole shall agree a definition of what those exceptions should be.  All 

emails should go through the Clerk.   

R22 All councillors should give an undertaking to treat fellow councillors and 

officers with respect and not to make personal attacks on individuals or their 

integrity. Until such respect is shown the Council cannot move forward. If 

personal attacks are made in future the matter should be referred to Rother 

District Council who will deal with the matter against set criteria and will 

ensure that anything that falls below the Council’s agreed standards is 

appropriately dealt with and breaches of the Code are sanctioned and 

publicised. 

R23 All councillors should undertake that, where they have concerns about the 

way a decision has been made or a procedure followed they should discuss 

this with the Clerk and the Clerk should be allowed to give a ruling with 

reasons such as a reference to existing policy or legislation as to whether or 

not the concern is legitimate. This ruling should be communicated to all 

councillors. Where the concern is legitimate such a ruling should include the 

steps needed either to rectify the matter with an agreed timescale or the 

changes needed to prevent the matter re-occurring. Where the majority of 

councillors accept that the concern has been dealt with, the matter cannot be 

raised again for six months. 

R24 The Council needs to update its Standing Orders and Financial 
Regulations.   
 
R25 Payment of accounts needs to be resolved immediately and the Council 
needs to formalise the role of RFO and financial matters need to be put onto a 
firmer footing, in particular with proper budgeting measures implemented.   
 
R26 A full suite of policies need to be in place and published on the website. 
These should include: 

• Equal Opportunities Policy 

• Disciplinary and Grievance Policy 

• Health and Safety Policy 

• Sickness and Absence Policy 

• Code of Conduct, Complaints Policy 

• Councillor-Officer Protocol 

• FOI requests and publication scheme 

• Data Protection (GDPR) Policy 

• Bullying Policy, and a  

Page 44



• Recording of Meetings Policy.  
 

R27 The Council need to formalise a Trees and Open Space Maintenance 
Policy, and Severe Weather Policy with appropriate Risk Assessments in 
place.  
 
R28 The Council needs to adopt a Communications and Social Media Policy 
which would cover both appropriate use of social media by individuals and the 
Council’s own approach to communications and social media as an 
organisation. In particular it should consider producing its own newsletter to 
be delivered to every household in the parish, and to develop a Facebook 
page.   
 
R29 All councillors need to be familiar with Standing Orders and should have 

a pack which contains all policies, Financial Regulations and Standing Orders 

that they bring to each and every meeting to aid understanding and avoid 

confusion.    

R30 The ‘three-minute’ rule in Standing Orders should be enforced and all 

councillors should support the Chair in ensuring the meeting is run efficiently 

and without conflict. The rule may be waived in exceptional circumstances 

where an agenda item is of particular significance but this must be agreed at 

the start of the agenda item and a revised time limit (say five minutes) agreed. 

R31 The Council should set an agenda with indicative timings so that the 

meeting can be progressed and the timetable waived only with agreement at 

the meeting. 

R32 The Council needs to have clear rules for public participation which 

should limit contributions to allow council business to progress.   

R33 Minutes should be agreed at the following meeting. Amendments can only 

be proposed by those who attended the meeting and should be factual only 

rather than opinion.  

R34 Minutes are a record of the decisions made at meetings and whilst some 

brief narrative is required they should not be verbatim but should serve to help 

anybody understand the process by which a decision is made.  So they should 

be written to make clear the decision taken with some brief summary of 

matters considered for and against. 

R35 Meetings should be uploaded to the website with supporting papers and 

the web pages of the Council kept up to date with councillor details and a link 

to registers of interests.   

R36 The Council should develop a process for strategic planning with a view 

to the new Council developing a strategic plan for its term of office, to be 

agreed by the Council collectively. This should be a fully costed and resourced 

long-term strategic plan for the parish and the community, including strategic 

aims for SFF.  

Page 45



R37 The Council should engage with the community and with the CIC in 

developing its long-term plan and should review its communication strategy in 

conjunction with the public to evaluate its effectiveness and ensure that the 

public understands the work of the Parish Council, is engaged in developing a 

vision for Northiam and is able to participate more fully in local decision-

making. This engagement work needs to demonstrate the value of the Council 

to the community and encourage the community to become engaged in 

shaping the future.  

R38 The Council Chair and Clerk should look to learn from and share best 

practice with outstanding local councils both in developing strategy and a 

communications policy.  

R39 Where Northiam Parish Council needs to use external support to comply 

with these recommendations, they should consult with Rother District Council 

and the East Sussex Association before agreeing such support to ensure they 

have considered all the options and are obtaining expert advice at value for 

money. 

R40 Northiam Parish Council should develop an initial implementation plan 

within six weeks of receipt of the report which should be shared with the 

Monitoring Officer of Rother District Council. They should also report on their 

progress in implementing this action plan to the monitoring officer in six 

months and again in 12 months after the date of the plan.  

R41 If the new Council is still not operating effectively and relationships have 

not improved after this 12-month review Rother should consider a full review 

of the viability of the Council continuing. 

 
 
 

Page 46



AS231204 – Dispensation Policy  

Rother District Council  
 
Report to:  Audit and Standards Committee      
 
Date: 4 December 2023 
 
Title: Dispensation Policy  
 
Report of: Linda Walker, Interim Monitoring Officer 
 
Purpose of Report: To consider the proposed dispensation policy.  
 
Officer 
Recommendation(s): Recommendation to COUNCIL: That the proposed 

Dispensation Policy be approved and adopted and 
incorporated into the Council’s Constitution at Part 5, 
Codes and Protocols. 

 
 
Introduction  
 
1. Following the adoption of a new Code of Conduct (CoC) based on the Local 

Government Association’s model Code in May this year, the adoption of a 
Dispensation Policy is required, as the provisions around the granting of 
dispensations are not included within the Code, as had previously been the 
case.   
 

2. Currently, the Council’s Monitoring Officer has the power to grant a Member or 
Co-opted Member a dispensation from the restriction on speaking and/or voting 
when any matter in which that person has a disclosable pecuniary interest is to 
be considered at a meeting of the Council or any of its committees, sub-
committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees.   
 

3. The Localism Act only provides that an authority may grant a dispensation (to 
allow a Councillor with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) to participate in 
discussion of the matter at the meeting and/or to participate in any vote taken 
on the matter at the meeting) rather than that it will grant a dispensation.  
Therefore, it is helpful for the Council to consider in advance the circumstances 
in which a dispensation is likely to be granted or refused and agree a policy in 
this regard.   

 
Proposed Policy 

 
4. The proposed policy is attached at Appendix 1 and is essentially the same as 

that previously contained within the old CoC, together with the additional clause 
that no Member will be granted a dispensation to speak to and /or vote on any 
regulatory matter in which they have a DPI, such as their own planning / 
licensing application.   

 
Conclusion 
 
5. Members are asked to consider the proposed dispensations policy, suggest 

any amendments thereto and recommend to Council its approval and adoption. 
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



AS231204 – Dispensation Policy  

Other Implications Applies? Other Implications Applies? 
Human Rights No Equalities and Diversity No 
Crime and Disorder No Consultation No 
Environmental No Access to Information No 
Risk Management  No Exempt from publication No 

 
Chief Executive: Lorna Ford 
Report Contact 
Officer: 

Linda Walker, Interim Monitoring Officer 

e-mail address: MonitoringOfficer@rother.gov.uk   
Appendices: Appendix 1 – Dispensation Policy   
Relevant Previous 
Minutes: 

AS23/24 

Background Papers: None 
 

Reference 
Documents: 

LGA Code of Conduct Guidance 
Localism Act 

Page 48

mailto:MonitoringOfficer@rother.gov.uk


AS231204 – Dispensation Policy  

Appendix 1 
Rother District Council 
 
Dispensation Policy 

 
1. Where a Member is prohibited from voting on or participating in discussions on  

matters in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest or other registerable 
interest or non-registerable interest, a Member may on written notice to the 
Monitoring Officer (by letter or email) request the grant of a dispensation to 
permit them to participate in the voting or discussions on such matters.  A 
proforma is attached for this purpose.   
 

2. Any written notice given by a Member to the Monitoring Officer in accordance 
with paragraph 1 above must: 
 
(a) Be given: 

 
(i)  At least five working days before a meeting at which the relevant  

matter falls to be discussed; or 
 

(ii)  At least 24 hours before a meeting at which the relevant matter  
falls to be discussed, exceptionally, where circumstances require,  
and at the absolute discretion of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
(b)  Provide details of the matter to be voted on or discussed at a meeting 

and the nature of the Member’s interest in that matter; 
 
(c)  Specify the grounds on which the dispensation is applied for in 

accordance with paragraph 3 below; 
 
(d)  Specify whether a dispensation is requested for a single meeting or on 

an on-going basis (up to a maximum of four years). 
 

3. A dispensation requested under paragraph 1 may be granted only if, after 
having regard to all relevant considerations, the Monitoring Officer is satisfied 
that one of the following grounds for the grant of dispensations applies: 
 
(a)  Without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from 

participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of  
the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the 
business (quoracy); or 
 

(b)  Without the dispensation the representation of different political groups 
on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to 
alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business (political 
balance); or 

 
(c) Granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 

authority's area; or 
 

(d)  Without the dispensation, each Member of the authority's executive 
would be prohibited by Section 31(4) of the act from participating in any 
particular business to be transacted by the authority's executive; or 

 

Page 49



AS231204 – Dispensation Policy  

(e)  Considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 
 
4. For the avoidance of doubt, a dispensation will not be granted to any Member 

to speak to and/or vote on any regulatory matter in which they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, such as their own planning / licensing 
application. 
 

5. A dispensation granted in accordance with this policy must: 
 

(a)  Specify the period for which it is granted which must not exceed four
 years; and  

 
(b)  Specify whether the dispensation allows the Member to take part in 
 discussions on and/or vote on the matter in which they have a disclosable  

pecuniary interests or other registerable interest or non-registerable 
 interest. 

 
6. Any Member who has been granted a dispensation must declare the nature and 

existence of the dispensation before the commencement of any business to 
which the dispensation relates. 

 
7. A copy of the dispensation shall be kept with the Register of Members’ Interests 

and reported to the next Audit and Standards Committee meeting which 
considered standards-related matters. 

  

Page 50



AS231204 – Dispensation Policy  

Rother District Council                                                                             
 
Application for a Dispensation 
 
 
Councillor: 

 

 
Date applied: 

 
 

Date / Meeting 
required: 

 

 
State the 
details of the 
matter / and 
nature of your 
interest: 
 
 

 

 
Specify the 
grounds you 
believe apply: 

I believe I should be granted a dispensation on the following grounds 
(delete those that do not apply): 

 
(a)  Without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from  
 participating in any particular business would be so great a 

proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the 
transaction of the business (quoracy); or 

 
(b)  Without the dispensation the representation of different political 

groups on the body transacting any particular business would 
be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to 
the business (political balance); or 

 
(c) Granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in 

the authority's area; or 
 
(d)  Without the dispensation each member of the authority's 

executive would be prohibited by Section 31(4) of the act from 
participating in any particular business to be transacted by the 
authority's executive; or 

 
(e)  Considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 

dispensation - give reasons here: 
 
 
 
 

Period: I would like the dispensation to apply (please delete): 
 

(a) For the whole term of my current office (maximum 4 years); 
OR 
 

(b) For the meeting stated above only.  
 

 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 57

A
genda Item

 11



P
age 58



P
age 59



P
age 60



P
age 61



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 62



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 63



•

•

•

•

•

P
age 64



P
age 65



•

•

•

•

•

P
age 66



P
age 67



P
age 68



Use of Reserves 

for Capital and to 

Balance Budget

P
age 69



P
age 70



P
age 71



P
age 72



P
age 73



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 74



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 75



•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 76



P
age 77

https://rother.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g856/Public%20reports%20pack%2016th-Oct-2023%2018.30%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=10


•

•

•

•

•

P
age 78



P
age 79



P
age 80



P
age 81



P
age 82



P
age 83



P
age 84



•

•

•

•

P
age 85



P
age 86



P
age 87



P
age 88



P
age 89



P
age 90



•

•

•

P
age 91



P
age 92



P
age 93



P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 102



P
age 103



P
age 104



P
age 105



P
age 106



P
age 107

A
genda Item

 12



P
age 108

mailto:Darren.J.Wells@uk.gt.com
mailto:Darren.J.Wells@uk.gt.com


•

•

P
age 109



•

•

P
age 110



•

•

P
age 111



P
age 112



P
age 113



P
age 114



▪

▪

P
age 115



•

•

•

•

•

P
age 116



We consider 

management’

s process is 

appropriate 

and key 

assumptions 

are neither 

optimistic or 

cautious

P
age 117



Net pension liability – £18,051,000

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•



















P
age 118



P
age 119



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 120



• does not comply with disclosure requirements set out in CIPFA/SOLACE 

guidance or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit,

•

•

Specified 

procedures for 

Whole of 

Government 

Accounts 

P
age 121



P
age 122



P
age 123



Transparency report 2020 
(grantthornton.co.uk)

P
age 124

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/annual-reports/transparency-report-2020.pdf
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/annual-reports/transparency-report-2020.pdf


Certification of Housing 

Benefit Claim 

Self-Interest (because 

this is a recurring fee)

Self review (because GT 

provides audit services)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  

for this work is £14,663 in comparison to the total fee for the audit and in particular relative to Grant Thornton 

UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all 

mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

To mitigate against the self review threat , the timing of certification work is done after the audit has completed, 

materiality of the amounts involved to our opinion and unlikelihood of material errors arising and the Council 

has informed management who will decide whether to amend returns for our findings and agree the accuracy of 

our reports on grants.

P
age 125



P
age 126









P
age 127



P
age 128



P
age 129



✓

✓

P
age 130



P
age 131



P
age 132



✓

✓

✓

✓

P
age 133



✓

✓

P
age 134



P
age 135



P
age 136



P
age 137



P
age 138



P
age 139



P
age 140



P
age 141



P
age 142



P
age 143



P
age 144



P
age 145



P
age 146



AS231204 – Statement of Accounts 2021/22 

Rother District Council                                                  
 
Report to:  Audit and Standards Committee 
 
Date:              4 December 2023 
 
Title: Statement of Accounts 2021/22 
  
Report of: Duncan Ellis, Interim Chief Finance Officer 
 
Purpose of Report: To consider and approve the Council’s Statement of 

Accounts for the financial year ending 31 March 2022. 
 
Officer 
Recommendation(s):   It be RESOLVED: That the Council’s 2021/22 Statement 

of Accounts be approved. 
 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 require the Council’s accounts to be 

approved every year by the Council or its delegated Committee.  Members will 
recall that the draft Statement of Accounts for 2021/22 was reported to, and 
noted by, Audit & Standards Committee on 26 September 2022 (Minute 
AS22/29 refers). 

 
2. The draft accounts included a Narrative Report on the Council’s financial 

performance during 2021/22 and the Annual Governance Statement approved 
by this Committee at its meeting on 27 July 2022 (Minute AS22/21 refers). The 
Council’s external auditors, Grant Thornton, had not commenced their audit at 
that time so the Committee were unable to approve the accounts. 
 

3. A further report was considered by the Committee at its meeting on 20 March 
2023 (Minute AS22/54 refers) alongside the external audit report from Grant 
Thornton (Minute AS22/53 refers) who, at that time, had completed most of 
their fieldwork. There were however a couple of outstanding issues which had 
yet to be resolved at the time of that report. 
 

4. While the officer report did agree a delegation to approve any further changes, 
it has been necessary for the external auditors to bring back a final report for 
2021/22 (elsewhere on this agenda) and on that basis final Committee approval 
for the sign off of the 2021/22 accounts is sought. 

 
Audited Statement of Accounts – 2021/22 
 
5. Grant Thornton have now completed their fieldwork on the 2021/22 accounts. 

Their Audit Findings Report is shown elsewhere on the agenda and sets the 
final issues arising from the audit. 
 

6. As the report of the external auditors outlines the final issues, those are not 
replicated again within this report. 

 
 

Page 147

Agenda Item 13



AS231204 – Statement of Accounts 2021/22 

7. This report therefore seeks final approval of the Statement of Accounts for 
2021/22, a link to which can be found on the Council’s website, subject to the 
opinion of the external auditor.  

 
Conclusion 
 
8. It is recommended that the Committee approve the 2021/22 Statement of 

Accounts. 
 

Other Implications Applies? Other Implications Applies? 
Human Rights No Equalities and Diversity No 
Crime and Disorder No External Consultation No 
Environmental No Access to Information No 
Risk Management No Exempt from publication No 

 
Interim Chief Finance 
Officer 

Duncan Ellis 

Report Contact 
Officer: 

Aleksandra Janowicz, Principal Accountant 

e-mail address: aleksandra.janowicz@rother.gov.uk  
Appendices: None 
Relevant Previous 
Minutes: 

AS22/29 
AS22/21 
AS22/53 
AS22/54 

Background Papers: None  
Reference 
Documents: 

None  

 
 

Page 148

https://www.rother.gov.uk/performance-and-spending/budgets-and-accounts/
mailto:aleksandra.janowicz@rother.gov.uk


AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Rother District Council                                                      
 
Report to:     Audit and Standards Committee 
 
Date:                        4 December 2023 
 
Title: Internal Audit Report to 30 September 2023 
 
Report of:   Gary Angell, Audit Manager 
 
Purpose of Report: To report on Internal Audit activity in the second quarter 

of 2023/24, and to provide a progress update on the 
implementation of audit recommendations made in earlier 
periods. 

Officer 
Recommendation(s): It be RESOLVED: That the Internal Audit report to              

30 September 2023 be noted. 
 

 

 
Introduction 
 
1. The Council is required to ensure that it has reliable and effective internal 

control systems in place. The adequacy of these systems is tested by both 
Internal and External Audit. 

 
2. The Council’s Internal Audit Service operates in accordance with the Public 

Sector Internal Audit Standards. It is a requirement of these Standards that we 
report to the Audit and Standards Committee on audit matters and any 
emerging issues not only in relation to audit, but also to risk management and 
corporate governance.  

 
Current Position 
 
3. Progress on the 2023/24 Audit Plan is currently running at least 5-6 weeks 

behind schedule due to major overruns on the Blackfriars Spine Road Project 
and Housing Company Governance audits. Both had proven to be far more 
complex than was originally anticipated and this has delayed other audit work. 
This delay also means that it will now be necessary to postpone the Licensing 
audit until 2024/25 as this particular review could not take place as planned in 
Quarter 1 owing to data migration issues. It is hoped that the rest of the Plan 
can still be delivered by reducing the coverage on some of the Governance 
Audits, which have just commenced. 

 
Summary of Activity to 30 September 2023 
 
4. Two audit reports were issued in the quarter. A third report (Housing 

Company Governance), which was completed in September 2023, but not 
issued until October 2023, is also included in this report because of its 
relevance to the Blackfriars development.  

 
5. All three reports received negative assurance ratings, with ICT Asset 

Management providing limited assurance, and the Blackfriars Spine Road 
Project and Housing Company Governance only receiving minimal assurance, 
our worst category of assurance. The reasons for arriving at these 

Page 149

Agenda Item 14



AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

assessments, and the main issues found, are outlined in the Executive 
Summaries which are reproduced in Appendix A. Full details of all high risk 
recommendations made and management’s response to them are also 
included for information. 

Implementation of Audit Recommendations 
 
6. Each quarter, Members are updated on the progress made on implementing 

the audit recommendations reported at previous meetings. Appendix B shows 
a summary of the current position.  

 
7. There are currently 15 recommendations in the ‘Old Years’ section. Five of 

these are the same items reported previously and a further 10 cases in 
respect of recommendations made in 2022/23 have been added this quarter. 
The Audit Manager raised awareness of all these recommendations at a 
Senior Leadership Team meeting on 25 October and some recent progress 
has been made in most cases. 

 
8. An update on the five oldest recommendations is given below. 

- Procurement (October 2018) – Progress is stalled as we continue to wait 
for Legal Services to produce a draft Service Level Agreement (or Inter 
Authority Agreement) for the East Sussex Procurement Hub. This was 
chased again by the Interim Deputy Chief Executive on 23 October 2023.  

- ICT Governance (April 2019) – Progress on the draft ICT Disaster 
Recovery Plan continues with version 3 currently being worked on 
following feedback from the Head of Digital and Customer Services and 
the Audit Manager. 

- Data Protection (June 2021) – (1) The Data Protection Officer (DPO) has 
now obtained information from all departments that hold special category 
data and will be updating our Privacy Policy accordingly. (2) The DPO is 
in the process of updating the privacy notices for the few activities 
identified at the audit that are not currently covered. 

- Estates Income (June 2021) – The service administrator has made 
progress in updating the ePIMS asset register database, entering new 
data and ensuring existing data is up to date. It is estimated that this work 
will be completed by the end of November 2023. 

9. Only four recommendations had been made in the current year up to 30 June 
2023. Half of these have already been resolved and the rest are work in 
progress. 

 
Audits Planned Next Quarter 
 
10. The audits currently scheduled to take place in the fourth quarter of 2023/24 

are as follows: 

January 2024 Creditors 
 ICT Governance 
February 2024 Treasury Management 
 Payroll 
March 2024 Debtors 

Page 150



AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

11. The timing of some of these audits may however be pushed back depending 
on workload. 

Conclusion 
 
12. Progress on the 2023/24 Audit Plan is currently running behind schedule, 

primarily due to overruns on two audits. Some audit coverage may therefore 
need to be reduced to ensure that the rest of the plan is achievable. 
 

13. Three audits were completed in the second quarter of 2023/24, all of which 
received negative assurance ratings. 
 

14. Progress on the outstanding audit recommendations continues to be 
monitored. 

 
Other Implications Applies? Other Implications Applies? 

Human Rights No Equalities and Diversity No 
Crime and Disorder No External Consultation No 
Environmental No Access to Information No 
Risk Management No Exempt from publication No 
 
Chief Executive: Lorna Ford 
Report Contact 
Officer: 

Gary Angell, Audit Manager 

e-mail address: gary.angell@rother.gov.uk 
 

Appendices: A – Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023 
B – Summary of Progress on Recommendations Made up to  

  30 June 2023 
  

Relevant Previous 
Minutes:  
    

AS23/31 Internal Audit Report to 30 June 2023 
 

Background Papers: None.  
Reference 
Documents: 

None.  

 
 

Page 151

mailto:gary.angell@rother.gov.uk


Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

ICT ASSET MANAGEMENT AUDIT  
Service Manager: Mark Adams 
Officer(s) Responsible for Implementing Recommendations: Graham McCallum, 
Tom Alexander and Tom Martin   
Overall Level of Assurance: LIMITED  
 

Purpose and Objectives 
The purpose of the audit is to provide organisational and departmental management 
with an assurance as to the adequacy of the control systems based on compliance 
with the control objectives set out in the table below. 
These objectives are designed to assess the extent to which the organisation meets 
its legal requirements, its own needs and those of its stakeholders and how the 
control systems in place contribute to the overall governance arrangements and 
securing value for money from the Council's services and operations. 

Control Objectives 
The audit opinion is based on the extent of compliance with the objectives (below), 
which have either been met in full (M), partially met (P) or not met (N).  

An up-to-date inventory is maintained of all ICT equipment, which 
includes details of the individual each item has been allocated to.  P 

Deliveries of new ICT equipment are recorded in the inventory on 
receipt and are held in a secure area until required.  P 

Checks are in place to ensure that leavers ICT equipment is returned 
promptly to the Council. P 

Redundant ICT equipment is removed from the inventory and locked 
away until securely disposed of. M 

Level of Assurance 
Based on the findings from the audit, we have determined that only limited 
assurance can be given on the overall governance arrangements owing to the many 
discrepancies found with data held on the ICT Asset Management database and 
mobile phone records. 
The issues found include examples of: 

- New equipment that was not allocated an RSN (asset number) and was 
subsequently issued. 

- Equipment issued with an RSN but not recorded on the ICT Asset 
Management database. 

- Equipment currently held by someone other than the allocated user. 
- Lax controls over the return of equipment when users leave the Council, 

especially in respect of agency workers and consultants. Some equipment 

Page 152



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

may never have been returned. (NB - It is the line manager’s responsibility to 
ensure that all equipment is returned.) 

 
The audit also found that there are 50 mobile phones in circulation that have not 
accessed the network in over six months. Each phone costs the Council £108 per 
year in contract fees regardless of usage. This means that up to £5,400 could be 
saved annually if this equipment is no longer required. Even greater savings could 
be achieved if the handsets were recovered and reallocated to other users rather 
than purchasing new phones. 
The reason the audit found so many issues may well be linked to the COVID-19 
pandemic and its immediate aftermath. In particular: 

- There was no formal handover when the officer who previously recorded the 
ICT assets retired in March 2020, because this coincided with the first COVID-
19 lockdown. 

- Most people were expected to work from home during the lockdown, meaning 
that a lot of equipment was taken home by staff and the IT department were 
not necessarily informed of this. 

- A large number of laptops had to be procured and configured to enable 
officers to work from home and it is likely that the urgency of this work meant 
that some equipment was not correctly recorded on the database. 

Two significant office moves have also taken place since March 2020, and this too 
may have resulted in database updates being overlooked when office equipment 
moved from one department to another. 
Nevertheless, the ICT Asset Management database and mobile phone records now 
badly need to be brought up to date, and it is recommended that a comprehensive 
review is carried out with priority given to tracing valuable, portable equipment first - 
e.g. laptops, tablets, and mobile phones. 
The report also recommends that: 

- Action be taken to ensure that all new equipment is allocated an asset number 
upon receipt and the RSN sticker attached to the device. 

- Departments should be recharged the replacement cost of any ICT equipment 
that is not returned when their staff leave. 

- Agency workers and consultants using Rother ICT equipment should be 
required to sign documentation when they receive it, stating that they will 
return the equipment when their contract ends, and that failure to do so will 
result in them being billed for the replacement costs. 

- Agency workers and consultants should be recorded as such on the database 
along with the name of the line manager requesting their equipment. Monthly 
reports should then be sent to confirm that they continue to be employed by 
the Council and where not, what action they have taken to ensure the 
equipment has been returned. 

- At the next mobile contract renewal (December 2023), the IT department 
should consider removing all devices that have not accessed the network for a 
period of six months or more unless there is a valid reason for this (e.g. the 
phone is held for emergency planning or is in storage awaiting re-allocation). 

Page 153



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

The need to improve and enforce leaver procedures is a corporate issue and will be 
raised separately with the Corporate Management Team by the Audit Manager. 
In view of the issues found with the overall accuracy of the database records, this 
report could easily have been given a minimal assurance rating. However, we have 
decided not to do so on this occasion, as whilst the current situation is 
unsatisfactory, we believe that most ICT equipment is being correctly recorded at the 
time it is issued. The main problem appears to be keeping track of equipment once it 
is in circulation, and control in this area will need to improve once the records are 
brought up to date. 

Executive Summary 
Overall, the control objectives are considered to have only been partially met. We 
have made six medium and two low risk recommendations to management all of 
which are aimed at enhancing the governance arrangements and/or improving value 
for money. 

Internal Audit Service 
July 2023 
 
Levels of Assurance: 
Good Strong controls are in place and are complied with. 

Substantial Controls are in place, but improvements would be beneficial. 

Limited Improvements in controls or in the application of controls are required. 

Minimal Urgent improvements in controls or in the application of controls are required. 
 
Management Update – November 2023 

The Head of Digital and Customer Services can confirm that a lot of work has taken 
place following the audit to reinstate robust practices around our ICT asset 
management.   

Delivery of new IT assets  
Once a new asset is received it is stored in a secure location (only accessible by IT) 
and the asset does not leave the room until it has been given an RSN number and 
added to the ICT asset register on KACE. A service desk officer will perform this 
task once a week. Our Infrastructure and system developers are currently working 
on an electronic asset stock log – this will keep a real time log of all assets stored in 
the IT Stock cupboard along with basic stock items (e.g. mice, keyboards, 
headsets). The asset stock log will automatically update when an item is allocated to 
a user and also has the ability to create alerts when there is low stock of core items 
such as keyboards.  

IT Asset Audit (amnesty) 
There will be an ICT asset audit to re-establish who has been issued monitors (as 
during COVID-19 there was a mass allocation to staff without recording the asset to 
an individual). An electronic questionnaire is planned to be issued in December 
2023 to ask all staff for the RSN for all their equipment and includes docks/monitors/ 
mobile/laptops. All items allocated to new staff are fully recorded on the asset 

Page 154



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

management system and going forwards this issue will not occur again. Completion 
of this task will be by 31 March 2024. 

Mobile Phones 
We are currently undertaking a mobile phone asset review and awaiting information 
from our phone provider to confirm device usage. Following this, we will be 
contacting all managers where there has been an extended period of device 
inactivity and ending the need for a mobile phone. We are currently reviewing our 
mobile phone contract which is up for renewal and want to ensure we contract 
based on need rather than commission based on the previous contract. 
Mobile phone assets are recorded in two places; the KACE asset register and our 
Sophos device management system. A discrepancy between the two systems has 
been identified and this is caused when an officer leaves and their phone is passed 
directly to a new member of staff by the department rather than being handed back 
to IT for it to be recommissioned and reallocated. This results in an inaccurate 
record of who the phone is allocated to. A new process for returning phones is being 
implemented as part of the leaver process. This will use Sophos device 
management to automatically prevent the leaver’s phone from being used if it is 
handed out directly by the department, meaning it will need to be returned.   

Agency Workers/Consultants 
Currently, a monthly report is produced by IT regarding agency workers/consultants 
where all relevant managers are then asked to confirm if the agency officer or 
consultant is still working for Rother. If they are not, their network account is 
disabled, and a leaver process will need to be completed. A timeframe for the return 
of equipment does need to be established (ideally within two weeks of leaving the 
post) before escalation to their manager. The Head of Digital and Customer 
Services can confirm that if high value items are not returned then Rother does seek 
to recoup the cost of these items. 

Leaver Process 
There have already been improvements introduced. There are two forms that need 
to be completed; a HR leavers form and an IT leavers form. The IT form is for the 
closing of network accounts and returning of IT items. The HR form is for the 
physical return of security passes, car park permits, etc. A reminder has been added 
to both forms to advise that both need to be completed. Ideally, all items should be 
returned on the last day of employment or a maximum of two weeks from the leaving 
date. The Head of Digital and Customer Services will be working with HR and IT to 
see how this can be implemented and will look to recover the value of these items 
from final salary payments, if needed.  

Going forwards a new process is being worked on to try and automate many of the 
manual steps. This should also help to ensure that managers approve all requests 
for additional equipment and are required to provide a cost code for each purchase 
to be allocated to. This will mean that departments are correctly charged for their 
items, and it will provide for better budgetary control.  

 
 
 
 

Page 155



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

BLACKFRIARS SPINE ROAD PROJECT AUDIT  
Service Manager: Nicola Mitchell/Senior Leadership Team 
Officer(s) Responsible for Implementing Recommendations:  

Operational Issues: Nicola Mitchell, Sasha Kulidzan and Amy Fearn 
Corporate Issues: Ben Hook and Duncan Ellis 

Overall Level of Assurance: MINIMAL 
 

Purpose and Objectives 
The purpose of the audit is to provide organisational and departmental management 
with an assurance as to the adequacy of the control systems based on compliance 
with the control objectives set out in the table below. 
These objectives are designed to assess the extent to which the organisation meets 
its legal requirements, its own needs and those of its stakeholders and how the 
control systems in place contribute to the overall governance arrangements and 
securing value for money from the Council's services and operations. 

Background Information 
The Blackfriars development is in two parts; the construction of the spine road and 
the housing development. The responsibility for the first part, including all 
infrastructure costs, rests with the Council. The housing development is the 
responsibility of the Rother DC Housing Company, the Council’s arm’s length 
housing delivery vehicle.  
The site had been identified as an area for potential housing development for many 
years and although housing companies had acquired parcels of land, development 
had stalled. The Government then made infrastructure funding available to local 
authorities to facilitate the building of homes on these types of site. 
In February 2018, the Council was informed that it had provisionally been awarded 
£3.24m in grant funding by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) as part of the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) marginal 
viability fund to finance the construction of the road and related infrastructure 
necessary to develop 200 homes. This was subsequently increased to £8.7m by 
Homes England in late 2019 following their acceptance of the uplift in costs. Without 
this funding and without the intervention of the Council, the site would have remained 
unviable and undeveloped, depriving the Battle community of much needed homes. 
However, the HIF grant came with an expectation on Homes England’s part that the 
project would be completed within defined milestones. 

Scope of Audit and Limitations 
The sole focus of this review has been on the delivery of the spine road. An Internal 
Audit review of the Housing Company’s governance arrangements will be 
undertaken shortly, as part of a separate exercise. 
The Blackfriars Spine Road Project has proven to be a particularly complex 
development and the audit has been made even more challenging by: 

- the loss of corporate knowledge due to staff turnover in both the Project Team 
and in Finance;  

Page 156



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

- the recent change of Employer’s Agent; and 

- the Internal Audit Team’s need to familiarise itself with the terms and 
conditions of a NEC4 Engineering and Construction Contract as used by the 
main contractor. 

Nevertheless, the staff currently involved in the project have been very helpful and 
have endeavoured to fill in these knowledge gaps wherever they can. 
It should be noted that Internal Audit was already well aware of some of the 
problems with the delivery of this project prior to commencing this review. However, 
the purpose of this audit is not to apportion blame for past shortcomings, but to 
highlight the main issues currently facing the Council, which if addressed, should 
help improve the chances of the spine road being successfully delivered so that 
housing development can commence. 
Control Objectives 
The audit opinion is based on the extent of compliance with the objectives (below), 
which have either been met in full (M), partially met (P) or not met (N).  

Appointment of Main Contractor – The work was tendered for and let 
in accordance with Procurement Procedure Rules and Financial 
Procedure Rules. 

M 

Contract Payments – Contract payments are effectively monitored and 
paid in accordance with the contract terms. Site inspections are carried 
out by a quantity surveyor who evaluates the value of work carried out 
on the main contract and certifies this prior to any stage payments. Work 
to other contractors is procured in accordance with Procurement 
Procedure Rules and work is checked prior to payment. 

P 

External Funding – Grant funding conditions are adhered to and being 
closely monitored. Grant receipts are monitored to ensure they are 
correct. 

  N * 

Monitoring and Reporting of Works, Costs and Project Risks – The 
project is monitored to reduce the risk of overspends and slippage. Any 
overspends or project delays are reported promptly to senior 
management and to Members. 

N 

* Grant funding and receipts are being monitored but this control objective is shown as ‘not met’ 
because milestones have been missed, putting the funding at risk. This point is explained in 
more detail below in the Audit Findings and Recommendations section. 

Level of Assurance 
Based on the findings from the audit we have determined that despite recent 
improvements in control, only minimal assurance can be given on the overall 
governance arrangements owing to the seriousness of the issues found. These are 
explained below. 

Project Overview 
To date, a number of issues have affected the delivery of the Blackfriars Spine Road 
Project. These include: 

Page 157



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

- A lack of corporate knowledge and experience in delivering such a large-scale 
development at the outset of the project. This situation was further 
exacerbated by the early departure of the original Project Manager. 

- Pressure to meet HIF grant milestones. The need to make progress in order 
to meet these milestones meant that the project commenced (and continued 
to progress) when certain costs were unknown or unclear. 

- The failure of the original Employer’s Agent to adequately monitor the delivery 
of the main contract which led to performance issues. NB - The company 
concerned has since been replaced. 

- The challenging nature of the site itself (being on relatively steep ground with 
wooded areas and containing protected species and potential areas of 
archaeological interest). All of which have resulted in project delays and 
additional cost. 

- A substantial increase in the overall cost of the project. This is largely due to 
unforeseen changes in the economic and commercial environment (e.g. the 
UK exiting the EU, the COVID-19 pandemic, and world-wide inflationary 
pressures, etc.) and their effect on the cost of building materials, labour and 
borrowing. However, project management issues and other factors such as 
changes in the requirements for embankment works and drainage, and 
greater than anticipated land acquisition and professional fees have all 
contributed to the additional cost. 

The control issues facing this project are therefore multi-faceted and have occurred 
over a long period of time, involving many agencies, staff, and consultants. 

Recent Improvements  
Whilst this audit has identified a number of weaknesses in control, it should be 
acknowledged that the Council appears to be in a much stronger position than it was 
six months ago. It has worked to address the onsite issues and quantify the full 
extent of the current budgetary overspend, a new Employer’s Agent is now in place, 
and progress on the project is being closely monitored. 

Audit Findings and Recommendations 
The recommendations made in this report are categorised as either operational 
issues (to be resolved by the Project Team) or corporate issues (to be addressed by 
the Senior Leadership Team). All of the following matters are operational issues 
unless otherwise stated. 
High risk recommendations have been made concerning: 

- Grant Funding Agreement – The latest deadline set by Homes England to 
complete the spine road works and draw down the funds was 31 March 2023. 
This date has now passed despite numerous Change Requests having been 
sent to Homes England since July 2022. Homes England have now issued a 
Reservation of Rights letter, requesting an urgent action plan be prepared 
detailing amended milestones, the final drawdown date of funds and other 
relevant information. This has now been sent, but until such time these new 
arrangements are agreed, there is a risk that the £8.7m HIF grant could be 

Page 158



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

withdrawn as the Council has failed to reach its agreed milestones. Furthermore, 
any new agreement is likely to have a final drawdown date of 31 March 2024, 
after which time, no further funds will be paid out. An audit recommendation was 
therefore made for management to finalise the arrangement as soon as possible 
and ensure that the final drawdown date is both achievable, and closely 
monitored. 

- Capital Programme Reporting (Corporate Issue) – Management did not report 
the overspend on this project when it was first known. While it is accepted that 
the true extent of the overspend may not have been fully evaluated at the time of 
the February 2023 Capital Programme Update, officers would have been aware 
at that stage that the overspend was significant and this should have been 
formally reported to Cabinet. Instead Members were briefed internally while 
officers actively worked to find savings elsewhere in the project. Cabinet has 
since been updated about this issue in July 2023, but given the magnitude of the 
overspend, which is currently forecast to be £7.2m [now £7.9m], the audit 
recommends that future capital overspends must be promptly reported to 
Cabinet in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules. Management accept this 
point but state that they did not do so sooner in this case because of the 
complexities of the project and the need to ensure that the correct figures were 
reported.  

Other issues identified at the audit include: 

- Utilities Infrastructure Provider – It was unclear at the time of the audit 
whether Networx Utilities, the company providing the utilities infrastructure, was 
acting as a subcontractor of the main contractor, Breheny Civil Engineering, or 
whether a separate contract was required. However, the Consultant Project 
Manager has since confirmed that the costs incurred to date by Networx Utilities 
only relate to preliminary design work commissioned via a Project Management 
Instruction. The Consultant Project Manager also advised that a separate legal 
agreement with Networx Utilities is currently being drafted and that they would 
not be permitted to start onsite until it is signed. 

- Appointment of Consultants (Corporate Issue) – Consultants/agency workers 
have been employed throughout most of the project to assist with its monitoring 
and delivery, but none have been appointed in accordance with Procurement 
Procedure Rules (PPRs) to ensure best value. Financial Procedure Rules state 
that the appointment of consultants should be made in accordance with PPRs, 
and the East Sussex Procurement Hub advise the same, but this appears to be 
at odds with current working practices. Management has therefore agreed that 
further legal advice will now be sought regarding the procurement of this type of 
work. 

- Reporting Arrangements – The need to regularly update Members on the 
physical progress of this project. An audit recommendation is made for more 
formal reporting.  

- Risk Register – The need to monitor and update the RDC project risk register. It 
is understood that a separate risk register is also kept in the Corporate 
Programme Board documentation and this information will need to be transferred 
across. 

Page 159



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

- Budgetary Control (Corporate Issue) – The budgetary monitoring 
spreadsheets should be updated to include £2.5m of approved spend in relation 
to land purchase costs. The omission of this item from financial records would 
appear to be an oversight and management have advised that this has now 
been corrected. 

- Contingency Sum (Corporate Issue) – No contingency sum was included in 
the initial budget for the spine road, but it would have been prudent to have done 
so given the uncertainties regarding cost at the start of this project. Management 
accept this point and have agreed that contingency sums and realistic budgets 
for support costs will be included in future projects.  

The only other issues found were minor in nature and were dealt with in the report. 

Executive Summary 
Overall, the control objectives are not considered to have been met and we have 
made two high, six medium and two low risk recommendations to management in 
order to improve the governance arrangements. All high risk recommendations and 
management's response to them will be included in the quarterly report to the Audit 
and Standards Committee. 

Internal Audit Service 
August 2023 
 
Levels of Assurance: 
Good Strong controls are in place and are complied with. 

Substantial Controls are in place, but improvements would be beneficial. 

Limited Improvements in controls or in the application of controls are required. 

Minimal Urgent improvements in controls or in the application of controls are required. 
 
Management Update – November 2023 

Since the audit was undertaken, Officers have already progressed action to reduce 
the audit risks identified. Updates have been provided below for Members to 
demonstrate progress since the completion of the audit in respect of the main 
recommendations. In summary, the two main risks identified relating to grant funding 
and capital programme reporting are both expected to be resolved by end of 
December 2023, subject to Homes England’s reporting timescales. Progress has 
also been made on all the remaining items. 

Grant Funding Agreement 
It is not untypical for projects to experience delays when receiving central 
government grant; it is important therefore to be open and transparent with funders 
to share challenges and the reasons for delays and minimise any risk of clawback. 
To this end, an Action Plan to include the previous Change Request information was 
submitted within the required timescales. Officers have responded to various 
clarification queries since this time Homes England is now finalising its report and an 
update is expected imminently to confirm the outcome of the extended HIF funding 
milestones and request for additional funding.  

Page 160



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Capital Programme Reporting (Corporate Issue) 
Significant work has progressed to ensure Members are fully informed of the 
financial position of the Blackfriars Programme. This included the above 
mentioned Cabinet report in July updating Members of the project finances, also 
required to progress the loan arrangements with the Housing Company. 
Additionally, a Member briefing was held in October and included a full update on 
both the housing and infrastructure project. Followed by a Cabinet report in 
November, to regularise the Infrastructure budget of £21m. The recommendations 
included in the report were approved and remain subject to Full Council approval 
in December. Regular meetings are held between the Shareholder Representative 
and Leader of the Council to update on key financial changes.  

Utilities Infrastructure Provider 
Legal has been instructed and the first part of the Networx Utilities agreement is 
nearing completion. This is currently being updated to reflect the new housing 
layout changes. The agreement is expected to be signed by end of December 
2023. The second part of the utility’s agreement will follow separately via the 
Housing Company, relative to the utility connections from the road to the houses. 
This remains subject to planning approval of the new redesign and will progress 
next year.  

Appointment of Consultants (Corporate Issue) 
Following this audit recommendation, Officers have agreed that in future, 
consultancy/agency services will be procured via a recognised procurement 
framework.  

Reporting Arrangements 
The Blackfriars programme is presented to the Corporate Programme Board and 
Member Board quarterly. The website is updated monthly with activity in the last 
month and planned upcoming works.  

Risk Register 
A detailed risk register is regularly updated by the Employers Agent and overseen 
by the Project Manager. High level programme risks are now reported via the 
Shareholder Representative group. A Programme Risk register is being developed 
and will be incorporated into the Corporate Programme Board reporting 
accordingly.  

Contingency Sum (Corporate Issue) 
A 5.5% contingency of the Infrastructure project has been incorporated within the 
£21m budget reported to Cabinet in November to be ratified by Full Council in 
December.  

Page 161



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023     Appendix A 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

High Risk Recommendations and Management Responses 
The recommendations below arise from audit findings which carry a High risk and which have resulted in the control objective not being met (N). Management's 
response to the recommendation is also included and where the recommendation or an alternative action which will satisfy the control objective is agreed, an 
implementation date is shown. Progress against these recommendations will be included in the quarterly report to Audit and Standards Committee. 

CORP = Corporate issue 

Audit 
Ref Finding/Risk Recommendation Risk Management Response 

3.1 Finding 
A Grant Funding Agreement is in place 
with Homes England regarding the 
Housing Infrastructure Funding (HIF) and 
confirms the final drawdown date for funds. 
A Deed of Amendment was seen at the 
audit which confirmed that the grant 
availability period had been extended by 
one year to 31 March 2023.  

This date has now passed, despite 
repeated contact by the Housing 
Development Manager requesting an 
amendment. Homes England have now 
issued a Reservation of Rights letter to the 
Council, requiring an urgent action plan be 
prepared detailing amended milestones, 
the final drawdown date of funds and other 
relevant information. Until such time as this 
is formalised, there is a risk that the 
funding could be withdrawn as the Council 
has failed to reach its agreed milestones. 
Furthermore, any new agreement is likely 
to have a final drawdown date of 31 March 
2024, after which time, no further funds will 
be paid out.   

Management should provide Homes England 
with a revised action plan as soon as possible 
and ensure that the final drawdown date is 
both achievable, and closely monitored. 

High 

 

The Corporate Policy & Projects Manager 
advised that the action plan required by 
Homes England is being drafted by the 
Housing Development Manager and will be 
completed within the stipulated timescale of 
five working days. 

The Housing Development Manager will then 
monitor the situation to ensure that:  

1) Homes England agree the Council’s 
action plan and formalise any changes to 
the final drawdown date of funds. 

2) Cashflow is continually monitored to 
ensure all funds are drawn down before 
the final drawdown date. 

Agreed Implementation Date 

7 August 2023 for submission of action plan to 
Homes England. [Implemented] 

31 March 2024 for the final draw down.  
Responsible Officer 
Amy Fearn 

P
age 162



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023     Appendix A 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Audit 
Ref Finding/Risk Recommendation Risk Management Response 

 Risk 
Withdrawal of the HIF grant, or failure to 
drawdown funds within the specified period 
of time, leading to a large funding deficit 
and significant financial loss to the Council. 

   

4.4 (1)  

CORP 

Finding 
A recommendation was made at last year’s 
Capital Programme Audit to ensure capital 
programme overspends were reported in 
accordance with Financial Procedure 
Rules. This recommendation was accepted 
by management at the time. However, the 
overspend on this project was not reported 
to Cabinet in February 2023. It is 
acknowledged that the full extent of the 
overspend may not have been fully 
evaluated at this point, but officers would 
have been aware that the overspend was 
significant and this should have been 
reported to Members. 

Risk 
Lack of transparency; increased risk that 
budgets may not be effectively monitored 
and controlled; missed opportunity for early 
intervention. 

Budgets must be effectively monitored, and 
capital overspends exceeding £25,000 must 
be promptly reported to Cabinet in accordance 
with Financial Procedure Rules. 

High 

 

The Blackfriars project has been complex and 
challenging. Management felt that the 
reporting of overspends on this particular 
project needed to be accurate and credible 
before being formally reported.  

Members were informed in meetings once the 
true extent of the overspend had become 
clear. Management are also now actively 
looking at different ways in which further 
savings could be made on the project as a 
whole. 

Nevertheless, it is accepted that budgetary 
overspends should be reported to Cabinet in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rules 
and this will be done in future.  

Agreed Implementation Date 

30 September 2023 

Responsible Officer 
Duncan Ellis 

 
 
 
 

P
age 163



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

HOUSING COMPANY GOVERNANCE AUDIT  
Service Manager: Shareholder Representative Group 
Officer(s) Responsible for Implementing Recommendations: Statutory Officers 
Group, Shareholder Representative Group, Duncan Ellis, and Joe Powell 
Overall Level of Assurance: MINIMAL 
 

Purpose and Objectives 
The purpose of the audit is to provide strategic, organisational, and departmental 
management with an assurance as to the adequacy of the control systems based on 
compliance with the control objectives set out in the table below. 
These objectives are designed to assess the extent to which the organisation meets 
its legal requirements, its own needs and those of its stakeholders and how the 
control systems in place contribute to the overall governance arrangements and 
securing value for money from the Council's services and operations. 

Background Information 
The Rother DC Housing Company Ltd (formerly Alliance Homes (Rother) Ltd) was 
set up by the Council in October 2020 with the principal aim of increasing all forms of 
housing supply in Rother, to include delivery of much needed affordable housing.  
 
The Housing Company is currently working in partnership with the Council to 
develop the Blackfriars site in Battle. 

Scope of Audit and Challenges 
This audit focuses on the governance arrangements in place for the sole shareholder 
of the Housing Company i.e. Rother District Council. It is not concerned with the 
Housing Company’s internal procedures except where they impact on these 
governance arrangements.  

This audit has proven to be extremely challenging because of: 

- Limited documentation provided by the Shareholder’s side (the majority of the 
evidence examined during the audit was obtained from the Housing 
Company).  

- Changes of personnel. The composition of the Strategic Management 
Team/Senior Leadership Team has changed several times since the Housing 
Company was first set up and a new Chief Executive (Shareholder’s 
Representative) is now in place. 

- Difficulty in determining who made certain decisions and in what capacity. 
Two members of the Shareholder Representative Group have also acted as 
Chief Operating Officer (COO) for the Housing Company at some point, in 
addition to their existing Council duties, and all officers currently responsible 
for administering the Housing Company also split their time between the 
Housing Company and Council business.  

Page 164



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Limitations on Coverage 

Whilst the Blackfriars housing development is the primary focus of the Housing 
Company at present, and the complexities of this undertaking and its funding 
arrangements will no doubt have influenced the Council’s approach to governance, 
the development is not specifically covered by the audit. This is because a separate 
Internal Audit review of the Blackfriars Spine Road Project (covering the Council’s 
obligations regarding the delivery of this development) has already been completed. 

The arrangements for the transfer of ownership of the Blackfriars site were not 
covered either since the land valuation, which would enable the transaction to be 
completed, is yet to be agreed.  

Finally, the report does not consider the Community Infrastructure Levy liability or 
Section 106 obligations on the Blackfriars site as these will be the responsibility of 
the Housing Company. 

Control Objectives 
The audit opinion is based on the extent of compliance with the objectives (below), 
which have either been met in full (M), partially met (P) or not met (N).  

Business Case and Company Structure – A business case has been 
made setting out the key aims and objectives of the Housing Company; 
its aims and objectives are consistent with the Council’s overall 
strategy; and the risks involved in establishing a stand-alone company 
have been properly assessed 

N 

Shareholder Responsibilities – As the sole shareholder, the Council 
is sufficiently scrutinising the Housing Company’s activity to ensure that 
its investment is protected. 

P 

Governance Arrangements – The Housing Company has developed 
its own controls, policies, and best practice to ensure that its risk 
management and corporate governance processes are effective. 

P 

Financial Procedures and Budgetary Monitoring – The Housing 
Company has its own financial procedure rules and procurement 
procedure rules, and its accounting and banking arrangements are 
separate to those of the Council; income and expenditure is monitored 
on an ongoing basis and reported to the Board. 

N 

Level of Assurance 
Based on the findings from the audit we have determined that only minimal 
assurance can be given on the overall governance arrangements owing to the 
seriousness of the issues found. 

Audit Findings and Recommendations 

High risk recommendations have been made concerning: 

Page 165



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

- The Company’s NCA Status – The audit raises concerns about whether the 
Housing Company is currently operating as a Contracting Authority (CA) - i.e. 
bound by public procurement rules, or as a Non-Contracting Authority (NCA) 
which allows for greater commercial freedom. This is an important distinction 
as it has implications both for compliance with public procurement rules and 
Council policy. 
 
Management state that it has always been their intention for the Housing 
Company to operate on a commercial basis, however, proper consideration 
does not appear to have been given to how this would be achieved before the 
Housing Company began trading. Moreover, certain aspects of the Housing 
Company’s operation (e.g. only building new homes on Council-owned land of 
marginal viability, and its current reliance on the Council for financial support) 
do not appear to be characteristics of a commercial enterprise. Consequently, 
the Housing Company now wishes to remove key clauses from the Articles of 
Association and draft Shareholder Agreement which would potentially reduce 
the level of control that the Council has over the Housing Company, but which 
could also make its NCA status clearer. 

Given the varied legal advice that has been received over the years in relation 
to the Housing Company’s NCA status and the more forensic analysis which 
could be anticipated if this were challenged in the courts, the report 
recommends that management should carry out a detailed risk analysis of the 
current status of the Company, and any implications for the delivery of current 
and future housing projects in order to determine the best way forward. This 
will be reviewed by the new Statutory Officers Group comprised of the Head 
of Paid Service, S151 Officer, and Monitoring Officer. 

- Loan Arrangements – To date, the Housing Company has borrowed £2.9m 
from the Council in multiple tranches over a period of more than 12 months. 
However, no loan agreements are currently in place for any of these loans 
and the Housing Company will shortly be looking to borrow more. The Council 
should recharge the Housing Company at a commercial rate to comply with 
UK subsidy rules. The audit therefore recommends that the Council formalise 
the arrangements for doing so as soon as possible and starts applying 
interest on the borrowing to date. Management has already taken steps to 
address this and has drafted a Working Capital Agreement to cover the 
borrowing to date and the Housing Company’s operational costs in 2023/24 
which they hope to finalise by December 2023. A separate Loan Agreement 
will also be introduced by March 2024 to cover future borrowing. 

Other issues identified at the audit include: 

- Draft or Incomplete Documentation – Key documentation (i.e. the 
Shareholder Agreement, Service Level Agreement, Working Capital 
Agreement and Loan Agreement) have still not been finalised despite the 
Housing Company having been incorporated almost three years ago. Various 
recommendations have therefore been made to address this. NB – Whilst the 
draft Shareholder Agreement was agreed by Cabinet in July 2020, it has 
never been signed and sealed, and the Housing Company are now looking to 
amend it. 
 

Page 166



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

- Records of Meetings – The minutes of the Shareholder Officer Group seen 
at the audit were found to be lacking in detail and did not provide a clear 
record of what was discussed or the action points arising. Action has since 
been taken to correct this issue. 
 

- Conflicts of Interest – A draft Conflicts of Interest Policy has been produced 
by the Housing Company focusing on conflicts relating to the Housing 
Company itself. However, there is currently no policy covering potential 
conflicts between the Council and the Housing Company especially in respect 
of officers who work for both organisations, or who have worked for one or 
other of the organisations in the recent past. The audit recommends that the 
Council should produce its own Conflicts of Interest Policy to cover such 
issues.  

 
- Internal Audits – There is no legal requirement for the Housing Company to 

carry out internal audits. However, the report recommends that the Council 
request that the Housing Company considers undertaking periodic internal 
audits to give assurance that it is operating in a sound control environment 
and is taking action to correct any failures in internal control. 
 

- Procurement – The Housing Company does not currently have a 
Procurement Policy. The only scrutiny that the Council has is on contracts 
awarded over £10m where shareholder approval is required before the 
Housing Company can proceed. The report recommends that the Housing 
Company urgently produces a Procurement Policy to ensure that best value is 
obtained when using public funds and to safeguard against fraud and error. 
 

- Monitoring of Operational Costs – The operational costs of the Housing 
Company are projected to increase significantly in 2023/24 but this aspect is 
not specifically reviewed by the Shareholder Representative Group (SHRG). 
Management confirmed that the Company’s operational costs have been 
subject to scrutiny from the Council, particularly when drawing up the draft 
Working Capital Agreement. However, they accept that this scrutiny should be 
documented in future by including a standing item in future SHRG meetings. 
 

- Share Capital – Inconsistencies were found between the statement of share 
capital shown on documents held at Companies House, the issued share 
certificates and the share capital shown on both the Housing Company and 
Council’s financial records. To date, a total of 100,001 £1 shares have been 
issued, but this is not accurately recorded in either the Council or Housing 
Company records. The report recommends that action is taken to ensure that 
these records reflect the true shareholding. 

The only other issues found were minor in nature and were dealt with in the report. 

Executive Summary 
Overall, the control objectives are not considered to have been met and we have 
made two high, eight medium, and one low risk recommendations to management in 
order to improve the governance arrangements. All high risk recommendations and 
management's response to them will be included in the quarterly report to the Audit 
and Standards Committee. 

Page 167



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Internal Audit Service 
Completed: September 2023 
Issued: October 2023 
 
Levels of Assurance: 
Good Strong controls are in place and are complied with. 

Substantial Controls are in place, but improvements would be beneficial. 

Limited Improvements in controls or in the application of controls are required. 

Minimal Urgent improvements in controls or in the application of controls are required. 
 
Management Update –  November 2023 

Since the audit was undertaken, Officers have already progressed action to reduce 
the audit risks identified. Updates have been provided below for Members to 
demonstrate progress since the completion of the audit in respect of the main 
recommendations. In summary, necessary actions on the two high risk items are 
due to be completed by end of December 2023, and progress is underway to 
address the remaining eight medium risk items.  

The Company’s NCA Status 
The importance of the Housing Company sustaining a non-contracting status has 
been previously reported to ASC in December 2022. During August this year, the 
Council instructed Bevan Brittan legal services to undertake an independent 
assessment of the Company’s status. This included a review of the Company’s 
governance documents and governance arrangements Bevan Brittan confirmed that 
the Company has an industrial and commercial character, meaning the Company 
would be ineligible for contracting authority status and, as a result, is ‘non-
contracting’. This is principally because the Company (i) aims to make a profit, (ii) 
operates in normal market conditions; and (ii) bears the risks associated with its 
activities. The Company is also expected to be financially independent (with any 
loan provided by the Council to be on market terms) which is being regularised 
under the Working Capital Agreement being progressed, as set out in the July 2023 
Cabinet report (Minute CB23/19 refers) included under the second high risk audit 
item below.  
In addition, the Bevan Brittan assessment prompted the Council to undertake a 
more formal review of its governance arrangements with support from Bevan Brittan, 
in partnership with the Housing Company and its legal team Trowers & Hamlins. The 
review was also prompted by a request from the Company’s legal team Trowers & 
Hamlins, to consider some updates to the Articles and Shareholder Agreement to 
support the Company’s Non-Contracting Authority status, and underline that the 
business of the Company is to operate as a commercial company. 
A set of amendments, and a consideration of any risks to the Council has been 
undertaken with the support of Bevan Brittan. The outcome was a number of 
amendments to the Articles of Association and Shareholders Agreement, that were 
recently approved by Cabinet.  
 
 

Page 168



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Loan Agreements 
The principle of a loan facility was first previously approved by Cabinet totalling 
£80m to support delivery of the Company’s business plan (Minute CB21/29 refers) 
on 6 September 2021. All parties have always understood that all monies provided 
to the Company by the Council is to be loaned at a commercial rate of interest. 
The existing funding arrangement is currently being formalised into a Working 
Capital Agreement (WCA) to regularise company spend to date and up to March 
2024 (up to £10m) was approved at July Cabinet 2023.  
Finance has since issued a draft Working Capital Agreement (WCA). This is now 
being considered by the Company’s legal team and currently remains on track to 
complete by end of December this year. 

Working Capital Agreement 
See above update. To complete by end of December 2023. 

Service Level Agreement 
The draft Service Level Agreement has been agreed by both parties in principle 
and will be signed imminently. As has previously been reported to ASC in July and 
December 2022, it has been challenging for all parties to prioritise formalising the 
service level arrangements into a formal agreement, in the context of a range of 
operational challenges associated with the Blackfriars project. 

Signing of Shareholder Agreement 
The Company recognises that the original Shareholder Agreement (SHA) should 
have been signed at the same time as the Articles were approved and 
incorporated on Companies House. This issue was both known and recorded in 
the Company’s own risk register at the time. The subsequent advice from the 
Company’s legal advisers, Trowers & Hamlins, was to amend the SHA, before 
signing. This was to strengthen the Company’s Non-Contracting Authority status 
and the proposed amendments and final signing is excepted to complete by end of 
December, as outlined under the first high risk item above. 

Conflicts of Interest 
The Council is working with its HR team to develop a policy.  

Internal Audits 
The Housing Company acknowledges this recommendation and will be 
commissioning its own audit during 2024 for the financial year 2023/24, as well as 
using the outcome of this audit to continue to improve the existing governance 
arrangements.  

Procurement 
The Company acknowledges that a procurement policy is required, and progress 
has been made to develop this policy by end of December. 
It should be noted that since the Company’s inception, the Company has always 
sought to achieve best value by undertaking a tender process for high value 
contracts, outlined and agreed by the Board on a case-by-case basis.  

Page 169



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023    Appendix A 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Monitoring of Operational Costs 
It should be noted that since the departure of the Council’s accountant working on 
behalf of the Company in November 2022. The Company were unsuccessful with 
recruitment for some months, due to a high demand and lack of accountancy 
services available.  
Monitoring practices have improved as summarised below. This has largely been 
because of the Company commissioning new accountants (Kreston Reeves) in 
July of this year, standardising the Company’s approach to accounting, with 
improved software. This has been overseen and supported by the Council’s 
Interim Strategic Capital Finance Partner and Interim Chief Finance Officer.  
Other actions taken to improve monitoring of operational costs; 

• Papers circulated to the SHRG ahead of the 13 October 2023 meeting to 
include a Profit & Loss statement.  

• Finance reports provided on request to include; Management report, 
Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss statements. 

• End of year accounts in progress. Draft to be shared imminently with the 
Shareholder, to be provided by Kreston Reeves. 

• Draft Cashflow shared and being updated to include the new housing 
delivery Option 2) required to underwrite the WCA above.  

• Finance procedure agreed for future monitoring purposes. 

Share Capital 
The company acknowledges these discrepancies and is taking appropriate action 
to update records to reflect the true shareholding accordingly. 
 
 
 
 

Page 170



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023     Appendix A 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

High Risk Recommendations and Management Responses 
The recommendations below arise from audit findings which carry a High risk and which have resulted in the control objective not being met (N). Management's 
response to the recommendation is also included and where the recommendation or an alternative action which will satisfy the control objective is agreed, an 
implementation date is shown. Progress against these recommendations will be included in the quarterly report to Audit and Standards Committee. 

Audit 
Ref Finding/Risk Recommendation Risk Management Response 

1.1 Finding 
A Cabinet report produced in December 
2019 detailed the Council’s rationale for 
setting up a Housing Company. The report 
looked at the broad aims of the Company 
but also stated that the governance 
arrangements for the Company would be 
brought back to Council at a later date 
following consultation with Members. No 
evidence of this was seen at the audit. 

The Company’s status as either a 
Contracting Authority (CA) or Non-
Contracting Authority (NCA) was not 
discussed in this initial report. This was an 
important issue to consider in relation to 
the adherence of procurement rules. 

Given the varied legal advice that has 
been received over the years in relation to 
the Company’s NCA status and the more 
forensic analysis which could be 
anticipated if this were challenged in the 
courts, Management should carry out a 
detailed risk analysis of the current position 
to determine the best way forward.  

The Council’s significant investment in the 
Company in relation to the Blackfriars  

Management should carry out a detailed risk 
analysis of the current status of the company, 
and any implications for the delivery of current 
and future housing projects in order to 
determine the best way forward. Legal, 
financial and procurement risks must all be 
assessed, and further independent advice may 
need to be obtained. 

Depending on the outcome of the 
aforementioned recommended risk analysis, 
the Council may need to consider revising its 
policy to deliver 1,000 new homes by 2035, to 
ensure compliance with procurement rules. 

High 

 
 

 

The Statutory Officers Group will look to carry 
out a review to determine the best way 
forward in order mitigate the risk to the 
Council as much as possible. 

Agreed Implementation Date 
To be confirmed by the Chief Executive based 
on the availability of Linda Walker, the new 
Interim Monitoring Officer.  

Responsible Officer 
Statutory Officers Group 

 

P
age 171



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023     Appendix A 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Audit 
Ref Finding/Risk Recommendation Risk Management Response 

 development is an especially relevant 
factor. The Company’s status as either a 
CA or NCA is determined by law, based on 
how the Company operates and behaves. 
Council officers and Members need to be 
aware of the significant political and 
financial risks for this project and the 
extent to which Council oversight may be 
more limited if the Company is operating 
as an NCA. 

Furthermore, depending on the outcome of 
the aforementioned recommended risk 
analysis, the Council may need to consider 
revising its policy to deliver 1,000 new 
homes by 2035, to ensure compliance with 
procurement rules. 

Risks 
Legal challenge if the Company has not 
been adhering to public procurement rules; 
affordability and financial risks as the 
Company is wholly reliant on loan funding 
which should be charged at a commercial 
rate; a potential lack of financial control if 
the Council cedes to the Company’s 
wishes to remove certain reserved matters; 
the impact of high inflation and high 
interest rates on the Company’s business 
plan. 

   

  

 

   

P
age 172



Audit Reports issued during Quarter to 30 September 2023     Appendix A 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Audit 
Ref Finding/Risk Recommendation Risk Management Response 

4.5 Finding 
As at 31 March 2023, the Company had 
borrowed £2.9m from the Council in 
multiple tranches over a period of more 
than 12 months. However, no loan 
agreements were in place for any of these 
loans.  

The Council should recharge the Company 
at a commercial rate for these loans to 
avoid any subsidy implications. There have 
previously been two draft loan agreements 
which have never been signed.  

A Working Capital Agreement has now 
been produced in draft form which will 
cover the borrowing to date and the 
Company’s operational costs in 2023/24. It 
had been hoped that this would be signed 
by the end of July 2023, but this remained 
unsigned as at 3 October 2023. 

A draft Loan Agreement has also been 
produced for future borrowing which it is 
hoped will be signed by the end of the 
year. 

Risks 
The Council is losing interest income until 
such time as the loan arrangements are 
formalised; potential legal disputes with the 
Company: potential breaches of subsidy 
rules. 

Given that there have been two previous draft 
loan agreements and neither of these were 
ever progressed, a recommendation is made 
to ensure that both the Working Capital 
Agreement and Loan Agreement are agreed 
and signed as soon as possible, and the 
Council then applies interest to the borrowing 
to date. Management should also ensure that 
the agreements adhere to subsidy rules.  

High 

 

The Working Capital Agreement is a work in 
progress and the Interim Strategic Capital 
Finance Partner is currently looking at moving 
this forward. 

The Loan Agreement is still on course to be 
finalised by the end of the financial year. 

The S151 Officer advised that adjustments for 
accrued interest at the proposed interest rate 
have been made in the Council’s accounts. 

Agreed Implementation Date 

December 2023 for Working Capital 
Agreement and March 2024 for the Loan 
Agreement. 

Responsible Officer 
Duncan Ellis 

P
age 173



Implementation of Audit Recommendations    Appendix B 
 
 

AS231204 – Internal Annual Report to 30 September 2023 

Summary of Progress on Recommendations Made up to 30 June 2023 
 
Old Years: Audit recommendations made in 2018/19 (2), 2021/22 (3) and  
2022/23 (10) 
Previous quarter’s performance shown in brackets. 
 

Risk Issued Implemented Work-in-Progress Not Started 
High  6 (4) 5  (4) 1 (0) 0 (0) 

Medium 99 (64) 91 (60) 8 (4) 0 (0) 

Low 72 (46) 64 (45) 6 (1) 0 (0) 

Total 177 (114) 162 (109) 15 (5) 0 (0) 

    91.5% (95.6%) 8.5% (4.4%)   0% (0%) 

Note – All audit recommendations made in 2019/20 and 2020/21 have been resolved.  

Breakdown of the five oldest (pre-2022/23) audit recommendations by Service 
Manager: 
 

Mark Adams (Head of Digital and Customer Services) 

- ICT Governance (2018/19) – issued 12/04/19. Recommendation to produce a 
new ICT Disaster Recovery Plan (Medium). 

- Data Protection (2021/22) – issued 25/06/21. (1) Recommendation to determine 
which Council systems hold special category data and to confirm that there is a 
lawful basis for processing such data (Medium) and (2) Recommendation to 
establish if privacy notices still need to be produced for certain processes (Low). 

Duncan Ellis (Interim Deputy Chief Executive)  
- Procurement (2018/19) – issued 05/10/18. Recommendation to formalise an 

SLA for the service provided by the East Sussex Procurement Hub (Medium). 
Joe Powell (Head of Housing and Regeneration) 
- Estates Income (2021/22) – issued 30/06/21. Recommendation to update the 

tenancy details stored on the ePIMS asset register database to correct the 
discrepancies found at the audit and to ensure it is properly maintained from 
now on (Medium). 

Current Year: Audit recommendations made in 2023/24 (up to 30 June 2023) 
 

Risk Issued Implemented Work-in-Progress Not Started 
High 0 0 0 0 
Medium 1 0 1 0 
Low 3 2 1 0 

Total 4 2 2 0 

   50.0% 50.0% 0% 

 
Page 174



AS231204 – Work Programme  

 
AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

WORK PROGRAMME 2023 – 2024 

DATE OF 
COMMITTEE 

 
SUBJECT 

 

Monday 
4 December 2023 

 

Part A – Standards Reports 
• Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and other 

Standards Matters 
• Rother District Council owned accommodation 

complaints and tenant satisfaction report  
• Dispensation Policy 
• Discontinuance of Complaints  

 
Part B – Audit Reports 
• Grant Thornton – Audit Findings For Rother District 

Council 2021/22 
• Grant Thornton – Annual Report 2022/23 
• Statement of Accounts 2021/22 
• Internal Audit Report to 30 September 2023 

 

February 2024 - 
TBC 

Part A – Standards Reports 
• Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Complaints Monitoring 
• Debate Not Hate: Ending Abuse in Public Life for 

Councillors  
 
Part B – Audit Reports 
• Grant Thornton – Audit Findings Report 2022/23  
 

 
Monday 

25 March 2024 
 

Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled) 
 

Part B – Audit Reports 
• Grant Thornton – Audit Progress Report and Sector 

Update 
• Grant Thornton – Annual Audit Report 2022/23 
• External Auditor - External Audit Plan 2023/24  
• Internal Audit Report to 31 December 2023 
• Internal Audit Plan 2024/25 
• Review of Internal Audit 2023/24 
• Risk Management Update 
• Property Investment Strategy Update 
• Treasury Management Update 
• Self-Assessment Annual Review 
• Annual Report from the Rother DC Housing Company 

Shareholders Representative Group  
 

WORK PROGRAMME 2024 – 2025 
Monday 

17 June 2024 
 

Part A – Standards Reports 
• Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Complaints Monitoring 

Page 175

Agenda Item 15



AS231204 – Work Programme  

• Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and other 
Standards Matters 

• Draft Annual Report to Council – Ethical Standards 
Matters 

 
Part B – Audit Reports 
• Internal Audit – Annual Report and Opinion 2023/24 
• 2023/24 Statement of Accounts – Audit Planning Risk 

Assessment 
 

Wednesday 
24 July 2024 

 

Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled) 
 

Part B – Audit Reports 
• Audit and Standards Committee Annual Report 
• Statement of Accounts 2023/24 
• Annual Governance Statement 2023/24  
• Treasury Management Update – 2023/24 Outturn 
• Treasury Management Update 

 

Monday 
30 September 2024 

 

Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled) 
 

Part B – Audit Reports 
• External Auditor – Audit Progress Report and Sector 

Update 
• Internal Audit Report to 30 June 2024  
• Treasury Management Update 
• Risk Management Update 
 

Monday 
2 December 2024 

 

Part A – Standards Reports 
• Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Complaints Monitoring 
• Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and other 

Standards Matters 
• Self-Assessment of Rother District Council 

Owned/Leased Accommodation Complaints Handling 
 

Part B – Audit Reports 
• External Auditor – Audit Findings Report 2023/24  
• Internal Audit Report to 30 September 2024 

 

Monday 
24 March 2025 

 

Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled) 
 

Part B – Audit Reports 
• External Auditor – Audit Progress Report and Sector 

Update 
• External Auditor – Annual Audit Report 2023/24 
• External Auditor - External Audit Plan 2024/25  
• Internal Audit Report to 31 December 2024 
• Internal Audit Plan 2025/26 
• Review of Internal Audit 2024/25 
• Risk Management Update 
• Property Investment Strategy Update 

Page 176



AS231204 – Work Programme  

• Treasury Management Update 
• Self-Assessment and Annual Review 
• Annual Report from the Rother DC Housing Company 

Shareholders Representative Group 
 

 

 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Extract from Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)

	5 Rother District Council owned accommodation complaints and tenant satisfaction report
	Appendix A

	6 Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and other Standards Matters
	Appendix 2

	7 Dispensation Policy
	10 Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and other Standards Matters - Appendix 3 (Paragraph 3)
	11 Report of the External Auditors, Grant Thornton - Annual Report 2022/23
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Executive summary
	Slide 4: Executive summary (continued)
	Slide 5: Executive summary (continued)
	Slide 6: Use of auditor's powers
	Slide 7: Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the Council’s use of resources
	Slide 8: The current LG landscape
	Slide 9: The current LG landscape
	Slide 10: Financial sustainability
	Slide 11: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 12: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 13: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 14: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 15: Financial sustainability (continued)
	Slide 16: Financial Governance
	Slide 17: Financial Governance (continued)
	Slide 18: Improvement recommendations – Financial Sustainability
	Slide 19: Improvement recommendations – Financial Sustainability
	Slide 20: Improvement recommendations – Financial Sustainability
	Slide 21: Improvement recommendations – Financial Sustainability
	Slide 22: Governance
	Slide 23: Governance (continued)
	Slide 24: Governance (continued)
	Slide 25: Governance (continued)
	Slide 26: Improvement recommendations – Governance
	Slide 27: Improvement recommendations – Governance
	Slide 28: Improvement recommendations – Governance
	Slide 29: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 30: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 31: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 32: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 33: Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness (continued)
	Slide 34: Improvement recommendations – Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness 
	Slide 35: Improvement recommendations – Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness 
	Slide 36: Improvement recommendations – Improving economy,  efficiency and effectiveness 
	Slide 37: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 38: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 39: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 40: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 41: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 42: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 43: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 44: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 45: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 46: Opinion on the financial statements
	Slide 47
	Slide 48: Appendix A: Responsibilities of the Council
	Slide 49: Appendix B: An explanatory note on recommendations
	Slide 50

	12 Report of the External Auditors, Grant Thornton - Audit Findings For Rother District Council 2021/22
	Slide 1: The Audit Findings for Rother District Council
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: 1. Headlines
	Slide 4: 1. Headlines
	Slide 5: 2. Financial Statements 
	Slide 6: 2. Financial Statements
	Slide 7: 2. Financial Statements - Significant risks
	Slide 8: 2. Financial Statements - Significant risks
	Slide 9: 2. Financial Statements - Significant risks
	Slide 10: 2. Financial Statements - Other risk
	Slide 11: 2. Financial Statements – key judgements and estimates
	Slide 12: 2. Financial Statements - key judgements and estimates
	Slide 13: 2. Financial Statements - other communication requirements
	Slide 14: 2. Financial Statements - other communication requirements
	Slide 15: 2. Financial Statements - other responsibilities under the Code
	Slide 16: 3. Value for Money arrangements 
	Slide 17: 3. VFM - our procedures and conclusions
	Slide 18: 4. Independence and ethics 
	Slide 19: 5. Independence and ethics 
	Slide 20
	Slide 21: A. Action plan – Audit of Financial Statements
	Slide 22: A. Action plan – Audit of Financial Statements, cont’d
	Slide 23: A. Action plan – Audit of Financial Statements, cont’d
	Slide 24: B. Follow up of prior year recommendations
	Slide 25: C. Audit Adjustments
	Slide 26: C. Audit Adjustments, cont’d
	Slide 27: C. Audit Adjustments, cont’d
	Slide 28: C. Audit Adjustments, cont’d
	Slide 29: C. Audit Adjustments, cont’d
	Slide 30: C. Audit Adjustments, cont’d
	Slide 31: D. Fees
	Slide 32: E. Audit opinion
	Slide 33: E. Audit opinion, cont’d
	Slide 34: E. Audit opinion, cont’d
	Slide 35: E. Audit opinion, cont’d
	Slide 36: E. Audit opinion, cont’d
	Slide 37: F. Management Letter of Representation
	Slide 38: F. Management Letter of Representation, cont’d
	Slide 39: F. Management Letter of Representation, cont’d
	Slide 40

	13 Statement of Accounts 2021/22
	14 Internal Audit Report to 30 September 2023
	Introduction
	Summary of Activity to 30 September 2023
	Implementation of Audit Recommendations
	11.	The timing of some of these audits may however be pushed back depending on workload.
	Conclusion

	15 Work Programme
	AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE


